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The Honourable the President of the Legislative Council 
The Honourable the Speaker of the House of Assembly

In accordance with section 45 of the Independent Commissioner Against Corruption Act 
2012 I present the inaugural annual report of the Independent Commissioner Against 
Corruption and the Office for Public Integrity for the year ended 30 June 2014.

Yours sincerely

The Honourable Bruce Lander QC

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 
ANNUAL REPORT 2013-2014
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4

On 1 September 2013, most of the provi-
sions of the Independent Commissioner 
Against Corruption Act 2012 (‘the ICAC 
Act’) commenced. It provided for the 
introduction of two new offices that 
substantially altered the public integrity 
framework in this State. 

For the reader to have an understanding 
of the contents of this annual report, the 
reader needs to know the objectives 
of the ICAC Act and the functions which 
are performed by the offices that are cre-
ated by the ICAC Act.

The ICAC Act created two offices. The 
office of the Commissioner and the Office 
for Public Integrity (‘OPI’) are designed 
to work harmoniously and to that end the 
Commissioner has responsibility for his 
office and the OPI.

The two offices opened on Monday 
2 September 2013. While the commence-
ment of the office of the Commissioner 
and the OPI represented a new beginning, 
in other respects it was the realisation 
of hard work by the Public Integrity Reform 
Project (‘PIR Project’) to bring about a new 
fully functional law enforcement agency. 
I extend my appreciation to those who 
worked on the PIR Project to deliver these 
new organisations.

The primary object of the ICAC Act is to 
establish a Commissioner to investigate 
serious or systemic corruption in public 
administration and to refer serious or sys-
temic misconduct or maladministration 
in public administration to a relevant body 
to deal with that conduct.

The ICAC Act is concerned with three 
types of conduct: corruption, miscon-
duct and maladministration, but only 
in public administration.

The definition of corruption in public 
administration in the ICAC Act is very  
wide in that it includes any offence com-
mitted by a public officer while acting 
in his or her capacity as a public officer. 
In most cases only a public officer can 
be guilty of corruption and that person can 
only be guilty of corruption if that person 
has been guilty of an offence. Corruption 
does not include any type of misconduct 
that is not a criminal offence. 

‘Misconduct’ is defined in the ICAC Act 
to mean a contravention of a code of con-
duct by a public officer while acting in his 
or her capacity as a public officer that 
constitutes a ground for disciplinary action 
against the officer, or other misconduct 
of a public officer, again whilst acting in his 
or her capacity as a public officer.

COMMISSIONER’S FOREWORD 
THE HON. BRUCE LANDER QC

The definition of corruption in public 

administration in the ICAC Act is very 

wide in that it includes any offence 

committed by a public officer while 

acting in his or her capacity as  

a public officer.
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5

For public sector employees the code 
of conduct that is relevant is the Code 
of Ethics made under the Public Sector 
Act 2009. For local government mem-
bers or employees, the codes of conduct 
are those made under sections 63 and 
110 of the Local Government Act 1999. 
For a police officer the code of conduct 
is contained within the Police Regula-
tions 1999 made under the Police Act 
1998. Other codes are applicable to other 
public officers.

‘Public authorities’ and ‘public officers’  
are defined in Schedule 1 of the ICAC Act.

Public authorities include all the instru-
mentalities, agencies, and statutory 
authorities associated with the State 
Government, the Local Government Asso-
ciation and local councils. 

A public officer includes anyone employed 
by those instrumentalities, agencies, statu-
tory authorities or in local government.

A contractor can be a public officer for the 
purposes of the ICAC Act if the contractor 
is a person performing contract work for 
a public authority or the Crown.

The scheme of the ICAC Act is for the 
OPI to receive and assess complaints and 
reports as raising a potential issue of cor-
ruption, misconduct or maladministration, 
or not requiring investigation.

The OPI has the further responsibility 
of recommending to the Commissioner 
the manner in which the matter should 
be addressed.

If a matter is assessed as raising 
a potential issue of corruption in public 
administration that could be the subject  
of a prosecution, the matter can be dealt 
with in one of three ways. First, by inves-
tigation by the Commissioner; secondly 
by referring the matter to the South 
Australia Police (‘SAPOL’) or another law 
enforcement agency for investigation; 
or thirdly, if the conduct involves a police 
officer by referring the matter to the Police 
Ombudsman for investigation.

The Commissioner is given extensive 
powers to investigate corruption in public 
administration which are more extensive 
than those enjoyed by SAPOL and the 
Police Ombudsman. For that reason the 
Commissioner will investigate the more 
serious complaints or reports of corruption 
in public administration.

If a matter is assessed as raising 
a potential issue of misconduct or malad-
ministration in public administration the 
matter can be dealt with in one of three 
ways. First by referring the matter to an 
inquiry agency (the Ombudsman, Police 
Ombudsman, or Commissioner for Public 
Sector Employment); secondly, by refer-
ring the matter to the public authority 
concerned; or thirdly, by referring the 
matter to an inquiry agency but by the 
Commissioner exercising the powers 
of the inquiry agency.
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6

The scheme of the ICAC Act is that the 
Commissioner will not ordinarily investi-
gate matters that are assessed as raising 
potential issues of misconduct or mal-
administration but that that conduct 
will usually be addressed by an inquiry 
agency or by a public authority.

Indeed the Commissioner is given 
no powers of his own under the ICAC Act 
to investigate misconduct or maladmin-
istration, but if the Commissioner wishes 
to investigate misconduct or maladminis-
tration the Commissioner must excercise 
the powers of an inquiry agency.

Where the Commissioner refers a matter 
that raises a potential issue of misconduct 
or maladministration to an inquiry agency 
or a public authority the Commissioner 
may give directions and guidance as to 
how the matter should be addressed.

The Commissioner retains oversight 
of the matter referred and if the Com-
missioner is not satisfied with the action 
taken by the inquiry agency or public 
authority the Commissioner must 
inform those bodies of the Commis-
sioner’s dissatisfaction and give those 
bodies an opportunity to comment.

If the Commissioner remains dissatisfied 
the Commissioner can report to the Min-
ister responsible for the inquiry agency 
or public authority setting out the grounds 
of the Commissioner’s dissatisfaction 
together with any comments from the 
inquiry agency or public authority.

If after receiving any comments from the 
relevant Minister the Commissioner is still 
not satisfied, the Commissioner may 
provide a report to the President of the 
Legislative Council and the Speaker of  
the House of Assembly.
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The Commissioner is required under  
section 45 of the ICAC Act to report on  
a number of matters in an annual report, 
including the number and general nature 
of complaints and reports received, the 
number and general nature of investiga-
tions undertaken or referrals made, and 
the number of times certain powers have 
been exercised. As a public sector agency, 
the Commissioner is also required to pre-
pare an annual report in accordance with 
section 12 of the Public Sector Act 2009.

This annual report includes all of those 
matters that I am required to report on as 
well as additional information that I con-
sider should be published. The annual 
report does not include information that 
might identify persons who have been the 
subject of a particular complaint or report 
or the investigations undertaken by my 
office. Where I am of the view that it is 
in the public interest to publish informa-
tion in relation to a particular complaint, 
report, investigation or referral, I will make 
a public statement about that matter.

It would be naïve to think that South Aus-
tralia is free of corruption. The offices’ first 
ten months’ experience demonstrates that 
there are individuals in public administra-
tion who will actively set out to engage 
in unacceptable conduct, whether for their 
own or someone else’s benefit. In doing 
so they compromise their own integrity 
and diminish confidence in public admin-
istration. Such individuals have no place 
in public office.

The public is entitled to expect that all 
public officers will carry out their duties 
with honesty and integrity. I will attempt 
to ensure that my office continues to play 
a role in ensuring that all public officers 
meet that expectation.

It has been a busy first ten months for 
my office and the OPI. I am pleased with 
the progress that these offices have 
made, which is as a result of the hard work 
and dedication of the Chief Executive Offi-
cer, Mrs Patricia Christie, and of my staff, 
for which I am most grateful.

The public is entitled to expect that 

all public officers will carry out their 

duties with honesty and integrity.
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I began my tenure as the first Chief Exec-
utive Officer of both the office of the 
Commissioner and the OPI on 2 Septem-
ber 2013, the day the offices opened.

Whilst the OPI has been created as  
a separate office, for practical purposes 
the office of the Commissioner and the 
OPI are one entity, with all employees 
employed by the Commissioner and  
working together towards a common  
goal. For that reason I will speak of them 
as if they were the one entity (‘ICAC’). 

The ICAC did not simply open its doors 
on 2 September 2013 and begin the 
business of receiving, assessing and 
investigating complaints and reports.  
The PIR Project team was dedicated to  
the task of preparing for the introduction 
of the two offices I now serve. I thank it for 
its efforts. Without the framework it put 
in place we simply would not have been 
able to be operational on our first day.

Nonetheless, on 2 September we were 
a new entity and we have faced many 
of the challenges that come with estab-
lishing a new organisation. 

The primary challenge we faced on com-
mencement was being operational 
in terms of our statutory functions, 
whilst still very much in establishment 
phase organisationally.

From an operational perspective it was 
impossible to predict with accuracy what 
we would need to deal with in terms 
of numbers and types of complaints and 
reports. Unsurprisingly the reality has 
differed from what was imagined. As a 
result we have had to evolve on multiple 
levels in a short space of time. Systems, 
processes, procedures and staffing levels 
have all had to adjust whilst we have 
continued to operate. I applaud the flexi-
bility, initiative, commitment to continuous 
improvement and professionalism shown 
by our staff in assisting in, and indeed 
driving, this evolution.

Developing and embedding good 
governance has of course been 
a priority. Although there is still work 
to do, I believe we have established 
the foundations upon which we can 
continue to build a strong, resilient, 
flexible and effective organisation. 

Recruiting well has also been a focus. 
I am pleased to say we have recruited 
a dedicated and hardworking team, com-
mitted to delivering this important integrity 
oversight service to the people of South 
Australia as effectively as possible.

CEO’S FOREWORD 
PATRICIA CHRISTIE
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We have initially also been somewhat 
challenged by our accommodation.  
The fit-out of our premises was not com-
plete on opening and it quickly became 
evident that we did not have enough 
space to accommodate required staffing 
levels. Our employees have had to show 
flexibility and ingenuity in managing 
our physical space during this period. 
We have recently sourced more space. 
When it comes online towards the end 
of 2014 the constraints under which staff 
now work will be alleviated and some 
operational initiatives we have had to hold 
back can be undertaken.

Our office enjoys both the privilege and 
responsibility of independence. How-
ever, due to the constraints imposed 
by limited resources we do need 
to rely on services provided by other 
agencies. From an administrative per-
spective, Shared Services SA and the 
Attorney-General’s Department provide 
services. Steps have been taken to ensure 
that these relationships in no way compro-
mise our independence. I acknowledge 
that it has not always been easy to accom-
modate the needs of our organisation 
in a way that ensures our independence 
is not compromised and I thank those 
agencies for their willingness to do so.

Whilst there have been challenges,  
a new organisation also provides an  
exciting opportunity to build something 
from the ground up. It is a time when 
you have the greatest ability to shape 
the organisation’s culture. We want the 
ICAC to be a challenging but collabo-
rative, respectful and enjoyable place 
to work, where excellence is valued. 
Despite the varied backgrounds of our 
staff and the differing work cultures they 
have come from, we have made much 
progress towards building an organi-
sation staffed by employees who work 
together with those shared values.

Nevertheless the office of the Commis-
sioner is a law enforcement agency. 
It has complex and sensitive require-
ments which we continue to address 
in both a practical and strategic sense. 

We have many aspirations for our 
organisation. However, given we are 
operating in a climate of limited resources, 
we triage those aspirations to balance 
what is important and what is urgent. 
We have taken the view that a method-
ical, best practice approach to building 
capacity is preferable to undue haste. 

A fully operational and effective ICAC 
preserves, safeguards and enhances 
confidence in the integrity of public 
administration in South Australia. Our aim 
this year has been to establish an office 
where our practices, policies, procedures 
and people effectively serve this important 
purpose. We are committed to ensuring 
our operational frameworks produce the 
best and most effective outcomes possi-
ble and to this end intend to build upon 
what we have achieved this year. 

Although there is still work to do, 

I believe we have established the 

foundations upon which we can 

continue to build a strong, resilient, 

flexible and effective organisation. 
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OPENING
Both the office of the Commissioner and the OPI  

opened their doors on 2 September 2013.

OPI CONTACTS
A total of 1,547 contacts were received by the OPI.

GENERAL ENQUIRIES &  
OUTSIDE OF JURISDICTION MATTERS

A total of 624 matters received by the OPI were either general enquiries  
or clearly outside of the jurisdiction of the ICAC Act.

COMPLAINTS & REPORTS
A total of 923 complaints and reports were received by the OPI,  

comprising 462 complaints and 461 reports.

ISSUES
The OPI assessed 2,276 separate issues within  

the 923 complaints and reports that were received.

EDUCATION & PREVENTION
116 education sessions attended by more than 6200 people.

CORRUPTION INVESTIGATIONS 
71 corruption investigations were commenced by the Commissioner,  

covering 90 complaints and reports and 3 own initiative assessments.

INQUIRY AGENCY REFERRALS
65 complaints and reports were referred to an inquiry agency.

CORRUPTION REFERRALS
82 complaints and reports were referred to SAPOL or  

 the Police Ombudsman for investigation.

PUBLIC AUTHORITY REFERRALS
51 complaints and reports were referred to a public authority.

EXERCISE POWERS OF INQUIRY AGENCY
There were 22 misconduct and/or maladministration 

 in public administration matters in which the Commissioner  
exercised the powers of an inquiry agency. 
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The Commissioner, the Hon. Bruce Lander 
QC, has responsibility for the OPI. The 
Commissioner reports directly to Par-
liament. The Commissioner is assisted 
by his Chief Executive Officer (‘CEO’) 
and a management team compris-
ing senior staff from within the office 
of the Commissioner and the OPI.

The Commissioner sets, monitors and 
reviews the operation and strategic direc-
tion of the office of the Commissioner and 
the OPI, with the assistance of the CEO 
and the management team.

OVERVIEW AND STRUCTURE

COMMISSIONER CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT

MANAGER BUSINESS 
SERVICES

MANAGER ICT SERVICES

MANAGER  
EDUCATION, PREVENTION 
& COMMUNICATIONS

EXECUTIVE LEGAL OFFICER

MANAGER  
OFFICE FOR PUBLIC INTEGRITY

DIRECTOR OPERATIONS

A suite of policies and procedures has 
been developed to ensure staff adhere 
to regulatory and other compliance  
obligations. Those policies and proce-
dures are regularly reviewed and updated 
to ensure they reflect the organisa-
tion’s work and its risks and controls.

2 X SENIOR LEGAL OFFICERS

2 X LEGAL OFFICERS
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TRAINING & SYSTEMS 
COORDINATOR

EDUCATION  
& COMMUNICATIONS 
OFFICER

2 X INVESTIGATORS

SYSTEMS ADMINISTRATOR

6 X SENIOR INVESTIGATORS

SENIOR INTELLIGENCE 
ANALYST

ADMINISTRATION OFFICER

RISK, SECURITY  
& COMPLIANCE OFFICER

SENIOR ASSESSMENT OFFICER

3 X COMPLAINTS OFFICERS
OFFICE FOR  
PUBLIC INTEGRITY

INTELLIGENCE ANALYST

OPERATIONS SUPPORT 
OFFICER

MANAGER INVESTIGATIONS

4 X ASSESSMENT OFFICERS

OPI
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COMMISSIONER

The Hon. Bruce Lander QC was appointed 
as the Independent Commissioner Against 
Corruption on 2 September 2013. The 
Commissioner previously served as a 
judge of the Supreme Court of South 
Australia between 1994 and 2003, and 
a judge of the Federal Court of Australia 
between 2003 and his appointment as  
the Commissioner. 

He also served as an additional judge 
of the Supreme Court of the Australian 
Capital Territory and as a judge of the 
Supreme Court of Norfolk Island. 

Additionally he was a Deputy President 
of the Administrative Appeals Tribunal 
between 2005 and his appointment 
as the Commissioner. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

On 2 September 2013, Patricia Chris-
tie commenced as the CEO of the 
office of the Commissioner and the 
OPI. Mrs Christie previously held 
the position of South Australia and 
Northern Territory District Registrar 
of the Federal Court of Australia.

THE OFFICE FOR PUBLIC 
INTEGRITY (OPI)

The OPI has the statutory function 
of receiving complaints and reports about 
public administration. On receipt of a 
complaint or report, the OPI carries out 
an assessment of that complaint or report 
in accordance with the ICAC Act and 
makes a recommendation to the Com-
missioner as to whether, and by whom, 
the matter should be investigated. The 
OPI also carries out other functions 
as assigned by the Commissioner.

OPERATIONS TEAM

The Operations Team, which is led 
by the Director Operations, provides 
an intelligence and investigation capa-
bility to support the Commissioner in the 
discharge of his statutory functions. 
In addition to undertaking investigations 
into corruption in public administration, 
in a few cases the Operations Team 
assists the Commissioner where the 
Commissioner determines to exercise the 
powers of an inquiry agency in respect 
of a matter assessed as raising a potential 
issue of misconduct or maladministration 
in public administration. The Director 
Operations provides recommendations 
to the Commissioner in relation to the allo-
cation of resources, referral of matters and 
investigational strategies. 

LEGAL TEAM

The Legal Team supports the office 
of the Commissioner and the OPI 
by providing legal advice in relation 
to a variety of matters, including assess-
ments, investigations, industrial and 
corporate compliance.

Members of the Legal Team have 
been appointed by the Commis-
sioner to act as Counsel Assisting the 
Commissioner in investigations into 
corruption in public administration. 

They represent the Commissioner 
on some applications before courts or tri-
bunals and provide advice in relation 
to the construction of the ICAC Act and 
legislative amendments. 

Legal officers assist the Commissioner 
in most cases where the Commissioner 
determines to exercise the powers of an 
inquiry agency in respect of a matter 
assessed as raising a potential issue 
of misconduct or maladministration 
in public administration. They also provide 
advice to the Commissioner in respect 
of reports on investigations carried out 
by inquiry agencies and public authorities.

Members of the Legal Team regularly 
prepare training materials and give 
presentations to public officers in rela-
tion to the ICAC Act and the reporting 
obligations under the Commission-
er’s Directions and Guidelines.

All legal officers are qualified legal 
practitioners and hold current 
practising certificates.

BUSINESS SERVICES TEAM

The Business Services Team supports the 
operations of the office of the Commis-
sioner and the OPI by providing financial, 
employment, regulatory compliance and 
information management services. The 
team also assists the CEO with coordina-
tion of the delivery of business services 
by contracted service providers and other 
government departments.
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INFORMATION 
AND COMMUNICATIONS 
TECHNOLOGY (‘ICT’) TEAM

The ICT Team has the responsibility 
of providing secure and reliable ICT  
systems to enable the office of the  
Commissioner and the OPI to achieve  
legislative and strategic objectives.

The ICT Team provides support and 
training on ICT systems, including the 
case management system, to the office 
of the Commissioner and the OPI. The 
team liaises with government agencies 
responsible for the delivery of statewide 
government ICT services and provides 
strategic advice in relation to ICT risks, 
system requirements and infrastructure 
and software procurement and support.

EDUCATION, PREVENTION 
& COMMUNICATIONS TEAM

The Education, Prevention and Commu-
nications Team facilitates the delivery 
of education, prevention and commu-
nication services by the office of the 
Commissioner and the OPI to members 
of the public, inquiry agencies, public 
authorities and public officers. 

Responsibilities include the  
preparation, coordination and deliv-
ery of education and training sessions 
by the Commissioner and his staff; 
development of hardcopy and electronic 
education resources; media liaison; 
and the provision of strategic educa-
tion and communications advice.

ACCOMMODATION, 
TECHNOLOGY & 
RECRUITMENT

The completion of built for pur-
pose accommodation was a priority 
in 2013-2014. Fit-out will continue 
into 2014-2015 to cater for further 
accommodation requirements.

Significant investment in ICT infra-
structure has been a key priority in the 
first year of operations. Stage 1 of the 
ICT program has seen the design and 
implementation of a case management 
system, dedicated website, requisite 
back-up and security technology and 
supporting resources. Audio and video 
technologies have been designed and 
installed in the examination room and 
other designated rooms. Arrangements 
have been entered into with an interstate 
integrity agency to enable the Commis-
sioner to have a telecommunications 
interception capability.

The Commissioner’s ICT system 
presently operates through the 
Attorney-General’s Department ICT  
environment.1 Stage 2 of the ICT program 
involves the design and construction of a 
fully separate and secure ICT environment 
within the Justice Network. 

1 With the exception of the telecommunica-
tions interception system, which operates 
entirely independently of the ICT network.

As at 30 June 2014, the procurement 
of infrastructure, associated software and 
implementation services for the dedicated 
ICT network has been completed.

The dedicated ICT network will be fully 
operational in the first half of 2014-2015.

The Commissioner and the CEO are 
directly involved in the recruitment, selec-
tion and placement of staff. Applicants for 
all positions undergo rigorous security 
screening processes and are subject 
to ongoing performance review. 

The Attorney-General’s Department, the 
Department of the Premier and Cabinet 
and Shared Services SA continue to pro-
vide support to the Commissioner in the 
delivery of some corporate services that 
are not catered for in-house, including 
payroll and injury management and return 
to work services. Given the small number 
of staff, it is not considered financially 
viable to provide such services in-house 
at the present time.
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STRATEGIC GOALS
In April 2014, the Commissioner approved 
a strategic plan for his office and the OPI. 
The plan provides clear guidance for 
staff about the organisation’s strategic 
priorities for the first three years of oper-
ation. The plan was implemented soon 
after commencement, and it will need 
continuous review to ensure it caters 
to changing circumstances and therefore 
remains appropriate.

The Strategic Plan identifies three goals. 
Sitting behind each goal are a number 
of strategic priorities. Those priorities are 
designed to guide activities and realise 
the identified goals.

GOAL 1  
 
DEAL WITH ALL MATTERS BEFORE US IN 
AN EFFECTIVE AND EFFICIENT MANNER

 » Build our organisation with 
a focus on governance and 
effective recruitment;

 » Engage in a process of continuous 
improvement to ensure our workflows 
and case management system are 
optimised for the most efficient and 
productive outcomes;

 » Make certain that contact with the 
public is informative, respectful 
and professional;

 » Enhance our forensic and  
electronic investigative and  
evidence gathering capabilities.

GOAL 2 
INCREASE AWARENESS OF THE 
COMMISSIONER, THE OPI AND THE 
ICAC ACT, AND THE OBLIGATIONS 
AND RESPONSIBILITIES PLACED 
ON PUBLIC AUTHORITIES AND PUBLIC 
OFFICERS IN SOUTH AUSTRALIA

 » Deliver regular awareness sessions;

 » Conduct a website review to ensure 
it is effectively communicating with 
stakeholders and interested parties;

 » Collaborate with stakeholders to  
communicate the purpose and  
function of the ICAC. 

GOAL 3 
ASSIST PUBLIC AUTHORITIES  
IN THE PREVENTION OR  
MINIMISATION OF CORRUPTION, 
MISCONDUCT AND MALADMIN-
ISTRATION IN PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION  
THROUGH THE FACILITATION 
OF EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS

 » Develop and deliver introductory  
culture and governance programs  
for senior executives; 

 » Develop online education tools.



INDEPENDENCE

Our conduct and decisions will 
be made according to law and will 

be free of influence by any persons.

 IMPARTIALITY

We will be fair and unbiased in all 
of our dealings. Our decisions will 

be evidence based and made  
without fear or favour.

ACCOUNTABILITY

We will be responsible for our  
conduct and decisions. 

 INTEGRITY

We will conduct ourselves with  
complete integrity.

EXCELLENCE

We will embrace excellence, team 
work and professionalism, with a focus 

on efficiency and effectiveness  
of services provided both  
internally and externally.

RESPECT

 Our office will encounter people from 
diverse circumstances and everyone 

will be treated respectfully, fairly 
and courteously.

ORGANISATIONAL VALUES

The Commissioner holds a unique posi-
tion in public administration. He has broad 
oversight over the conduct of all public 
officers, and can investigate corruption 
in public administration and oversee the 
investigation of misconduct and malad-
ministration in public administration.

It is critical that the Commissioner’s staff 
act with the highest level of integrity 
and hold values commensurate with the 
important work undertaken.

Every staff member is expected to adhere 
to these six core values.

Over the coming months consideration 
will be given to refining these organ-
isational values in light of the South 
Australian Public Sector Values, which 
were published in February 2014.
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OVERSIGHT
The operations of the Commissioner and 
the OPI are subject to external oversight. 

Section 46 of the ICAC Act provides 
that an external review is to be under-
taken by a person appointed by the 
Attorney-General for that purpose. 
The reviewer is required to pres-
ent a report to the Attorney-General 
on or before 30 September of each 
year. That report must then be tabled 
in both Houses of Parliament. 

The Hon. Kevin Duggan AM QC has 
been appointed by the Attorney-General 
to carry out a review of the operations 
of the Commissioner and the OPI.

The performance and functions of the 
Commissioner and the OPI are also the 
subject of review by the Parliamentary 
Crime and Public Integrity Policy Commit-
tee, established under section 15M of the 
Parliamentary Committees Act 1991. The 
members of the Committee are:

 » The Hon. Robert Brokenshire MLC;

 » The Hon. Gerry Kandelaars MLC;

 » Mr Lee Odenwalder MP;

 » Mr Chris Picton MP;

 » Mr Vincent Tarzia MP; and

 » The Hon. Stephen Wade MLC.

The Commissioner must also keep 
the Attorney-General informed of the 
general conduct of the functions of the 
Commissioner and the OPI and, if the 
Attorney-General so requests, provide 
information to the Attorney-General 
relevant to the performance of the 
functions of the Commissioner and 
the OPI (but not information iden-
tifying or about a particular matter 
subject to assessment, investigation 
or referral under the ICAC Act).

The Commissioner is an interception 
agency for the purposes of the Telecom-
munications (Interception and Access) Act 
1975 (Cth) (‘TIAA”). In accordance with the 
corresponding state Act (Telecommunica-
tions (Interception) Act 2012), an external 
review agency must, at least once in every 
six month period, inspect the records 
of the Commissioner relevant to activities 
under the TIAA.

Mr Duggan has been appointed as the 
review agency for the Commissioner.
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WORKFORCE PROFILE*
As at 30 June 2014, the Commis-
sioner had 38 staff (37.6 FTEs), 
including eight police officers on sec-
ondment from SAPOL and employed 
by the Commissioner.

The Commissioner’s staff come from 
a range of backgrounds and cultures, 
reflecting the diversity of the community 
that the offices serve. 

The workforce is relatively evenly distrib-
uted between males and females, with 
a greater number of males working in the 
Operations Team and a greater number 
of females working in the OPI. Staff range 
in age from 20 years to 65+ years.

The Commissioner encourages profes-
sional development amongst his staff. 
An internal training committee has been 
established to identify and facilitate the 
provision of professional development 
training to enable staff to build upon  
existing knowledge and skills.

*For the purposes of the statistics on the 
following pages, the Commissioner 
is treated as an employee.
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EMPLOYEE NUMBERS, GENDER & STATUS
TOTAL NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES*

Persons 38.0

FTEs 37.6

* Does not include a 1.0 FTE secondee from the Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions. 

 
GENDER % PERSONS % FTES

Male 42.1% (16.0/38.0) 42.6% (16.0/37.6)

Female 57.9% (22.0/38.0) 57.4% (21.6/37.6)

 
NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES DURING THE 2013-2014 FINANCIAL YEAR

Separated from the agency 4

Recruited to the agency 42

 
NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES ON APPROVED 
LEAVE WITHOUT PAY AT 30 JUNE 2014
There were no employees on approved leave without pay at 30 June 2014. 
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NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES BY SALARY BRACKET 
SALARY BRACKET MALE FEMALE TOTAL

$0 - $53,199 0 0 0

$53,200 - $67,699 1 11 12

$67,700 - $86,599 3 3 6

$86,600 - $109,299 2 3 5

$109,300+ 10 5 15

TOTAL 16 22 38

 
STATUS OF EMPLOYEES IN CURRENT POSITION 
(PERSONS) 

ONGOING SHORT-TERM 
CONTRACT 
(LESS THAN  

12 MONTHS)

LONG-TERM 
CONTRACT 
(GREATER THAN  

12 MONTHS)

OTHER (CASUAL) TOTAL

Male 0 5 11 0 16.0

Female 0 8 14 0 22.0

TOTAL 0 13 25 0 38.0

STATUS OF EMPLOYEES IN CURRENT POSITION (FTES) 
ONGOING SHORT-TERM 

CONTRACT  
(LESS THAN  

12 MONTHS)

LONG-TERM 
CONTRACT

(GREATER THAN  

12 MONTHS)

OTHER (CASUAL) TOTAL

Male 0 5 11 0 16

Female 0 7.8 13.8 0 21.6

TOTAL 0 12.8 24.8 0 37.6

  
EXECUTIVES 

TERM TENURED TERM UNTENURED TOTAL %

Male 2 1 3 60%

Female 0 2 2 40%

TOTAL 2 3 5 100%
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LEAVE MANAGEMENT
AVERAGE DAYS LEAVE PER FTE

LEAVE TYPE 2013-2014

Sick leave 2.2 days 

Family carer’s leave 0.3 days

Miscellaneous special leave 0.7 days

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY
ABORIGINAL AND/OR TORRES STRAIT ISLANDER EMPLOYEES

In the reporting period there were no Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander employees.

 
NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES BY AGE BRACKET & BY GENDER 

AGE BRACKET MALE FEMALE TOTAL % OF TOTAL 2013 
WORKFORCE 
BENCHMARK

15-19 0 0 0 0.0% 6.2%

20-24 0 6 6 15.8% 9.7%

25-29 1 6 7 18.4% 10.9%

30-34 1 2 3 7.9% 9.8%

35-39 3 1 4 10.5% 10.1%

40-44 5 4 9 23.7% 11.8%

45-49 2 1 3 7.9% 11.2%

50-54 1 1 2 5.3% 11.3%

55-59 1 1 2 5.3% 9.0%

60-64 1 0 1 2.6% 6.1%

65+ 1 0 1 2.6% 3.7%

TOTAL 16 22 38 100% 100%* 

*sourced from Department of the Premier and Cabinet Circular-PC013-Annual Reporting Requirements-2013 (page 17).
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CULTURAL & LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY 
MALE FEMALE TOTAL % OF AGENCY SA COMMUNITY

Number of employees born overseas 3 5 8 21.1% 22.1%

Number of employees who speak lan-
guage(s) other than English at home

3 2 5 13.2% 14.4%

TOTAL NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES WITH DISABILITIES  
(ACCORDING TO COMMONWEALTH DDA DEFINITION) 

MALE FEMALE TOTAL % OF AGENCY

1 0 1 2.6%

 

TYPES OF DISABILITY (WHERE SPECIFIED)
DISABILITY MALE FEMALE TOTAL % OF AGENCY

Disability requiring 
workplace adaption

0 0 0 0

Physical 1 0 1 2.6%

Intellectual 0 0 0 0%

Sensory 0 0 0 0%

Psychological/
psychiatric

0 0 0 0%

 
VOLUNTARY FLEXIBLE WORKING ARRANGEMENTS 

MALE FEMALE TOTAL

Purchased leave 0 0 0

Flexitime 6 16 22

Compressed weeks 0 0 0

Part-time 0 2 2

Job share 0 0 0

Working from home 0 0 0

Programmed days off (PDO) 7 2 9
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PERFORMANCE DEVELOPMENT
DOCUMENTED REVIEW OF INDIVIDUAL PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

% TOTAL WORKFORCE

A review within the past 12 months 100%*

A review older than 12 months 0%

No review 0%

*Not including statutory appointment (the Commissioner).

LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENT
TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT TOTAL COST % OF TOTAL SALARY EXPENDITURE

Total training and development expenditure $33,946.16 1.10%

Total leadership and management 
development expenditure

$1,770.00 0.06%

EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY PROGRAMS
The Commissioner is an equal opportunity employer, encouraging people from diverse backgrounds to apply for employment 
vacancies advertised.

During the relatively short time the office of Commissioner and the OPI have been operating, no specific employment  
opportunity programs have been established.

 
WORK HEALTH, SAFETY & INJURY MANAGEMENT
WORK, HEALTH & SAFETY PROSECUTIONS, NOTICES 
AND CORRECTIVE ACTION TAKEN

There were no notifiable incidents pursuant to Part 3 of the Work Health and Safety Act 2012 (‘WHS Act’) in the reporting period.

There were no notices served pursuant to section 90, section 191 or section 195 of the WHS Act (provisional improvement,  
improvement and prohibition notices) during the reporting period.

AGENCY GROSS WORKERS COMPENSATION EXPENDITURE 
FOR 2013-2014 COMPARED WITH 2012-2013

The ICAC had no workers compensation expenditure in the reporting period.
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MEETING SAFETY PERFORMANCE TARGETS 
PERFORMANCE: 10 MONTHS 
TO END OF JUNE 2014

FINAL 
TARGET

ACTUAL NOTIONAL 
QUARTERLY 

TARGET

VARIATION NUMBERS 
OR %

1. Workplace fatalities 0 N/A N/A -

2. New workplace injury claims 0 N/A N/A -

3. New workplace injury claims frequency rate 0 N/A N/A -

4. Lost time injury claims frequency rate 0 N/A N/A -

5. New psychological injury claims frequency rate 0 N/A N/A -

6. Rehabilitation and return to work:

6a. Early assessment within 2 days N/A N/A N/A 80%

6b. Early intervention within 5 days N/A N/A N/A 90%

6c. LTI have 10 business days or less lost time N/A N/A N/A 60%

7. Claim determination:

7a. New claims not yet determined, assessed  
      for provisional liability in 7 days

N/A N/A N/A 100%

7b. Claims determined in 10 business days N/A N/A N/A 75%

7c. Claims still to be determined after 3 months N/A N/A N/A 3%

8. Income maintenance payments for recent injuries N/A N/A N/A -

9. 2013-2014 injuries (at 24 months development) 0 0 0 -

WHISTLEBLOWERS PROTECTION ACT DISCLOSURES
There have been no occasions on which public interest information has been disclosed to the responsible officer of the agency under 
the Whistleblowers Protection Act 1993. 
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
There have been no contractual arrangements entered into where the contract extends beyond a single year and where the total 
value of the contract exceeds $4 million (GST inclusive).

EXTENT TO WHICH CONSULTANTS HAVE BEEN ENGAGED 
CONSULTANT LENGTH OF ENGAGEMENT NATURE OF ENGAGEMENT COST INCURRED

ENGAGEMENTS BELOW $10 000

Deloitte 1 month Investigative  
systems and process 
requirement consulting.

$8,000.00

Info-Osmosis 1 month Records management gap 
analysis and strategy.

$6,500.00

ENGAGEMENTS $10 000 - $50 000

N/A

ENGAGEMENTS ABOVE $50 000

N/A

Amounts are excluding GST. Length of engagement is approximate.

ACCOUNT PAYMENT PERFORMANCE
There is currently no facility to report on the Commissioner’s Account Payment Performance statistics.  
The Commissioner has received no financial penalties for the late payment of invoices. 

OVERSEAS TRAVEL
There has been no overseas travel in the reporting period.
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OPI FUNCTIONS

The OPI is established by section 17 of the 
ICAC Act with the following functions:

 » To receive and assess complaints 
about public administration from  
members of the public;

 » To receive and assess reports about 
corruption, misconduct and maladmin-
istration in public administration from 
inquiry agencies, public authorities and 
public officers; 

 » To make recommendations as to 
whether and by whom complaints and 
reports should be investigated;

 » To perform other functions assigned 
to the OPI by the Commissioner.

OPI STRUCTURE

While extensive work was undertaken 
prior to the commencement of the OPI 
to establish systems, procedures and 
staffing, it was impossible to predict the 
volume of complaints and reports that 
would be received; the nature of those 
complaints and reports; or the most likely 
means by which those complaints and 
reports would be provided.

Initially, the OPI comprised a manager, four 
assessment officers and five complaints 
officers. Assessment officers are respon-
sible for the assessment of complaints 
or reports once received. Complaints 
officers are responsible for receiving 
complaints and reports, either by way 
of written correspondence, via the online 
form, over the telephone or face to face. 

Because the number of complaints and 
reports on commencement could not 
be predicted, complaints officers were 
recruited on short term contracts, review-
able following a short period of operation, 
in order to ensure that staffing numbers 
were appropriate and commensurate with 
operational needs.

After several months of operation, 
it became apparent that the structure 
required amendment. The time taken 
to assess complaints and reports, often 
raising many issues, was creating a back-
log of matters to be actioned. The need 
to enhance the capacity of assessment 
officers to undertake assessments 
was identified.

The OPI has since recruited a senior 
assessment officer, who undertakes 
more complex assessments and acts 
as a conduit between the assessment 
officers and the manager. At the same 
time, the number of complaints offi-
cers has been reduced by two which 
seems to be appropriate for current 
operational requirements.

The OPI now consists of a manager, 
a senior assessment officer, four 
assessment officers and three com-
plaints officers. All OPI staff have 
legal qualifications.

COMPLAINTS AND REPORTS

The ICAC Act provides that complaints 
about public administration may be made 
by a member of the public. Reports about 
corruption, misconduct or maladminis-
tration in public administration are made 
by inquiry agencies, public authorities and 
public officers. 

Complaints and reports are dealt with 
in the same way once they have been 
received by the OPI.

DIRECTIONS 
AND GUIDELINES

In accordance with section 20 of the ICAC 
Act, the Commissioner has issued Direc-
tions and Guidelines governing reporting 
to the OPI of matters that an inquiry 
agency, public authority or public officer 
reasonably suspects involve corrup-
tion, misconduct or maladministration 
in public administration.

Those Directions and Guidelines create 
mandatory reporting obligations for 
inquiry agencies, public authorities and 
public officers. In general terms, an inquiry 
agency, public authority or public officer 
is required to report a matter that is rea-
sonably suspected of involving corruption 
in public administration, or serious or sys-
temic misconduct or maladministration 
in public administration (Figure 1).

The Commissioner’s Directions and 
Guidelines are available on the Commis-
sioner’s website: http://icac.sa.gov.au/
content/directions-and-guidelines or scan 
the QR code below to visit.

OFFICE FOR PUBLIC INTEGRITY
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INQUIRY AGENCY 

PUBLIC AUTHORITY  
PUBLIC OFFICER

CORRUPTION 
MISCONDUCT 

MALADMINISTRATION 
IN PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION

DO YOU HAVE A REASONABLE 
SUSPICION OF CORRUPTION?

DO YOU HAVE A REASONABLE 
SUSPICION OF MISCONDUCT 

OR MALADMINISTRATION?

REPORT TO OPI*

IS THE MISCONDUCT 
OR MALADMINISTRATION 
SERIOUS OR SYSTEMIC?

NO 
NO FURTHER 

ACTION
NO 

NO FURTHER 
ACTION

NO 
DEAL WITH 
 IN AGENCY

YES
YES

YES

DO YOU REPORT?

FIGURE 1 

REPORTING OBLIGATIONS

*Unless previously reported (corruption to the OPI, or  
miscoduct maladministration to the OPI or an inquiry agency).
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OPI OPERATIONS

The OPI is open to the public  
Monday to Friday between 9:00am 
and 4:30pm. Complaints and reports 
may be made by telephone, email, 
in writing, in person or through the 
online form on the ICAC website. 
A public officer should report online. 

An electronic transfer system has been 
established to enable the Ombudsman 
and Police Ombudsman to report matters 
through respective electronic complaints 
management systems.

In the reporting period, complaints 
and reports were received by the 
following means:

WEBSITE 30%

TELEPHONE 26%

ELECTRONIC 
TRANSFER* 

11%

LETTER / 
IN WRITING

16%

EMAIL 9%

IN PERSON 8%

* From the Ombudsman and  
Police Ombudsman 

OTHER OPI CONTACT

In addition to the receipt of complaints 
and reports, the OPI also received 624 
other contacts. Those contacts consisted 
of general enquiries and allegations relat-
ing to matters that were clearly outside 
the Commissioner’s jurisdiction. Most 
of those contacts (88%) were received 
by way of telephone.

OPI WORKFLOW

Registration

Once received, all complaints and reports 
are registered by a complaints officer 
onto an electronic complaints manage-
ment system. Where a complaint or report 
requires the immediate attention of the 
Commissioner or a senior staff member, 
that complaint or report is flagged and the 
Commissioner or staff member is advised.

The process of assessment can often 
require careful consideration of volumi-
nous written material, sometimes complex 
questions of jurisdiction and an evaluation 
of multiple issues. In some cases, the 
nature of the complaint or report is not 
immediately identifiable, requiring further 
contact with the complainant or reporter 
in order to fully understand the issues 
raised. While the OPI seeks to carry 
out assessments in a timely manner, 
it is critical that those assessments 
be undertaken thoroughly.

Of the matters that were assessed in the 
reporting period, 80% were assessed 
within 60 working days. 

The average time taken to conduct 
an assessment was 18 working days.

The OPI continues to refine its processes 
in order to more effectively and efficiently 
discharge its statutory functions. 

NUMBER & GENERAL 
NATURE OF COMPLAINTS 
& REPORTS RECEIVED 
BY THE OPI

Between 2 September 2013 and 30 June 
2014, the OPI received a combined total 
of 923 complaints and reports. The 
general nature of those complaints and 
reports is set out in Figure 2. Curiously, 
the number of complaints and reports  
was almost equal.

TOTAL NUMBER 
OF COMPLAINTS 
RECEIVED

462

TOTAL NUMBER 
OF REPORTS 
RECEIVED

461

Following registration, a complaint 
or report is allocated to an assessment 
officer for assessment in accordance 
with the ICAC Act. In the reporting 
period, a complaint or report remained 
in the registration stage for an average 
of 2.47 business days. 

The OPI recognises the critical importance 
of keeping complainants and reporters 
informed. One key performance indi-
cator established by the OPI targeted 
an acknowledgment of the receipt of 90% 
of complaints or reports to the maker 
of the complaint or report within five  
working days. 

The OPI has exceeded that target 
by sending an acknowledgment letter 
to the complainant or reporter within 
an average of two business days during 
the reporting period.

Assessment

Once the complaint or report is allo-
cated to an assessment officer, a critical 
assessment is undertaken and a recom-
mendation is made to the Commissioner 
in accordance with section 23 of the ICAC 
Act. The Commissioner is not bound 
by the recommendation made.

As part of the assessment process, the 
complainant or reporter may be con-
tacted by the assessment officer to obtain 
further information. While the OPI has 
no statutory power to require the provi-
sion of information from inquiry agencies, 
public authorities or public officers for the 
purposes of an assessment, the OPI will 
where necessary request such information 
to assist in making an informed assess-
ment of the matter. 

In most cases, inquiry agencies and public 
authorities have worked collaboratively 
with the OPI to provide the information 
required within existing statutory and reg-
ulatory requirements. 

Where contact is made with an inquiry 
agency or public authority to obtain infor-
mation, careful consideration is given 
to the request, the views of the com-
plainant or reporter in relation to his or her 
identity being disclosed, the nature of the 
information contained within the complaint 
or report and whether the request may 
expressly or impliedly identify the com-
plainant or reporter. 
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FIGURE 2 

GENERAL NATURE OF COMPLAINTS AND REPORTS

462 COMPLAINTS 461 REPORTS

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

8% 9%

BULLYING/HARASSMENT/COERCION IN THE WORKPLACE

4%3%

IMPROPER DISCLOSURE AND/OR USE OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

17%1%

FAILURE TO EXERCISE/INADEQUATE EXERCISE OR INAPPROPRIATE EXERCISE OF POWER

14%46%

CONDUCT OCCURRING OUTSIDE PUBLIC OFFICER’S CAPACITY AS PUBLIC OFFICER

8%1%

DECEPTION ASSOCIATED WITH EMPLOYMENT OR APPOINTMENT TO PUBLIC OFFICE

6%1%

COULD NOT BE ASCERTAINED

0%1%

FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH POLICY/MISMANAGEMENT  
OR INAPPROPRIATE CONDUCT TOWARD MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC 

18%30%

THEFT/MISUSE OF PUBLIC MONEY

11%4%

OTHER CRIMINAL CONDUCT OCCURRING WHILE THE PUBLIC OFFICER 
WAS ACTING IN HIS OR HER CAPACITY AS A PUBLIC OFFICER

13%5%
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Figure 3 sets out the types of entities that 
were the subject of a complaint or report. 
In most cases, where an entity is listed, 
the complaint or report related to the con-
duct of a public officer of that entity.

As at 30 June 2014, 73 complaints and 
73 reports were awaiting assessment or  
a determination from the Commissioner 
in relation to the action to be taken. 

ISSUES RAISED 
IN COMPLAINTS & REPORTS

While the OPI received 923 complaints 
and reports, many of those complaints 
and reports raised multiple issues. A total 
of 2276 issues were identified by the 
assessment process in the 923 complaints 
and reports received. In some cases it was 
difficult to determine the precise issue 
that was sought to be raised by the com-
plainant or reporter.

DUPLICATION

Some complaints and reports received 
by the OPI were duplicated. Due to the 
confidentiality obligations imposed by the 
ICAC Act, and the mandatory reporting 
obligations contained within the Com-
missioner’s Directions and Guidelines, 
there have been occasions where matters 
have been replicated more than once and 
in some cases multiple times.

The OPI received 86 complaints  
and reports which duplicated other  
complaints or reports. 

OTHER FUNCTIONS

In addition to the receipt and assessment 
of complaints and reports and the making 
of recommendations to the Commissioner, 
the OPI is responsible for:

 » drafting correspondence in relation 
to assessments and determinations;

 » facilitating the referral of matters 
that have been assessed as raising 
a potential issue of misconduct and/
or maladministration or some other 
issue, to an inquiry agency, public 
authority or public officer;

 » coordinating the receipt of reports 
from inquiry agencies and public 
authorities in relation to action 
taken on matters referred to them 
by the Commissioner; and 

 » liaising with complainants and report-
ers following the receipt of a complaint 
or report, its assessment and the deter-
mination of the Commissioner.

FIGURE 3 

SUBJECT OF COMPLAINTS & REPORTS

STATE GOVERNMENT AGENCY

UNKNOWN

LOCAL GOVERNMENT

STATUTORY AUTHORITY

MEMBER OF PARLIAMENT REPORTS

COMPLAINTS

64%

19%

13%

12%

5%

5%

79%

2% 1%
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COMPLAINTS & REPORTS PROCESS
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Section 24(1) of the ICAC Act pro-
vides that where a matter is assessed 
as raising a potential issue of corruption 
in public administration that could be the 
subject of a prosecution, the matter 
must be investigated by the Commis-
sioner or referred to SAPOL, the Police 
Ombudsman (if the issue concerns 
a police officer or special constable) 
or other law enforcement agency. 

Corruption in public administration 
is defined in the ICAC Act to mean con-
duct that constitutes one of a number 
of criminal offences, including abuse 
of public office, demanding or requiring 
a benefit on the basis of public office, 
an offence against the Public Sector (Hon-
esty and Accountability) Act 1995 or an 
offence against the Public Corporations 
Act 1993. Corruption in public adminis-
tration also includes any other offence 
committed by a public officer while acting 
in his or her capacity as a public officer.

INVESTIGATIONS INTO 
CORRUPTION IN PUBLIC  
ADMINISTRATION

The definition of corruption in public 
administration is wide reaching. The 
range of offences captured by the defi-
nition does not always sit comfortably 
with accepted notions of corruption 
in public administration. For example, 
simple traffic offences committed by a 
public officer while acting in his or her 
capacity as a public officer are captured 
by the definition. Similarly, offences 
against the person (e.g. physical and 
sexual assaults) committed by a public 
officer while acting in his or her capacity 
as a public officer are also captured. 

The Commissioner has excluded 
from the mandatory reporting direc-
tions the need to report matters 
suspected of involving only an offence 
against the Road Traffic Act 1961. 

Where matters are assessed as raising 
a potential issue of corruption in public 
administration, but are of the type that 
ought to be dealt with by police in the 
ordinary way, the Commissioner will ordi-
narily refer those matters to SAPOL.

While some matters suggest that a cor-
ruption offence has occurred, that offence 
might not be capable of being the subject 
of a prosecution. For example, where the 
offender has since died, or where the 
offence took place many decades ago, 
or where relevant witnesses are no longer 
contactable, the matter might be assessed 
as not being capable of resulting 
in a prosecution.

Of the 923 complaints and reports 
received by the OPI, 172 were assessed 
as raising a potential issue of corruption 
in public administration that could be the 
subject of a prosecution. That very large 
number reflects the wide definition of cor-
ruption in public administration.
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INVESTIGATIONS BY THE 
COMMISSIONER

The Commissioner determined to inves-
tigate 90 complaints and reports that 
were assessed as raising a potential 
issue of corruption in public administra-
tion (13 complaints and 77 reports). The 
Commissioner also assessed, on his own 
initiative, a further 3 matters as raising 
a potential issue of corruption in public 
administration and determined to investi-
gate all three matters. 

Some of the complaints and reports 
assessed as raising a potential issue 
of corruption in public administration con-
tained duplicate allegations. Taking into 
account those duplicates, the Commis-
sioner commenced an investigation into 
71 matters (Figure 4). 

The general nature of those investigations 
are set out in Figure 5.

In some cases, the Commissioner deter-
mined to conduct a joint investigation 
with SAPOL in accordance with section 
34 of the ICAC Act, particularly where the 
nature of the investigation required sig-
nificant additional resources or specialist 
resources not presently available within 
the office of the Commissioner. 

While joint investigations are conducted 
in collaboration with SAPOL, the Com-
missioner remains the head of the 
investigation and is responsible for deci-
sions in relation to those investigations.

As at 30 June 2014, 19 investigations had 
been closed. In most cases, the investi-
gation was closed where the allegations 
could not be substantiated after the col-
lection of relevant evidence or where the 
available evidence was insufficient to jus-
tify continued investigation or referral 
to a prosecution authority. In some cases, 
while an investigation was closed, the 
matter was referred to a relevant public 
authority to consider potential disciplinary 
action against a public officer.

Of the investigations carried out by the 
Commissioner, none have yet resulted 
in a prosecution. It is anticipated that 
a number of current investigations will 
result in a referral to a prosecution author-
ity for prosecution. 

In one matter the Commissioner  
was advised that a public authority 
commenced disciplinary action against 
a public officer following an investigation 
conducted by the Commissioner. 

FIGURE 4 
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FIGURE 5 

GENERAL NATURE OF MATTERS INVESTIGATED BY THE COMMISSIONER
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Exercise of Investigative Powers

The ICAC Act provides the Commissioner, 
examiners and investigators with a range 
of powers to carry out an investigation into 
corruption in public administration. Those 
powers cannot be used to investigate 
alleged misconduct or maladministration 
in public administration.

Other State and Federal legislation 
contain additional investigative powers 
available to the Commissioner to investi-
gate corruption in public administration. 

SEARCH WARRANTS

Section 31 of the ICAC Act empowers 
an investigator to apply to the Commis-
sioner or a judge of the Supreme Court 
for a warrant to enter and search a place 
or vehicle. 

Where a warrant is sought to search 
a place occupied or used by, or a vehicle 
owned or used by, an inquiry agency, 
public authority or public officer, that war-
rant may be issued by the Commissioner 
on application by an investigator.

Where the warrant is sought to search 
a private place or private vehicle, that 
warrant may be issued by a judge 
of the Supreme Court on application 
by an investigator.

When a warrant is issued, an investigator 
is empowered to enter and search the 
place or vehicle, take photographs, seize 
and retain certain items or issue a reten-
tion order in relation to those items.

Before a warrant is issued, the Commis-
sioner or a judge of the Supreme Court 
must be satisfied that the warrant is rea-
sonably required in the circumstances for 
the purposes of an investigation into cor-
ruption in public administration.

In the reporting period, investiga-
tors applied for and were issued with 
18 search warrants.

WARRANTS 
ISSUED BY THE 
COMMISSIONER

8

WARRANTS ISSUED 
BY A JUDGE OF THE 
SUPREME COURT

10
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EXAMINATIONS

In accordance with Schedule 2 of the 
ICAC Act, the Commissioner or an exam-
iner may summons a person to appear 
before the examiner at an examination.

The ICAC Act provides that the Commis-
sioner is an examiner.

An examination is an investigative tool 
used to obtain evidence from witnesses 
of value to an investigation into corrup-
tion in public administration. The ICAC 
Act requires that examinations be held 
in private. In certain circumstances, the 
examiner presiding over the examination 
must make orders relating to the publi-
cation of evidence or other information 
given or related to the examination.

Before an examiner can issue a sum-
mons requiring a person to give evidence 
at an examination, the examiner must 
be satisfied that it is reasonable in all 
of the circumstances to do so. The power 
to summons a person and conduct 
an examination may only be used for the 
purposes of an investigation into corrup-
tion in public administration.

In the reporting period, five examinations 
were conducted in accordance with 
Schedule 2 of the ICAC Act.

EXAMINATIONS 
CONDUCTED

5

 
REQUESTS FOR EXAMINATION 
OF ACCOUNTS

Section 39 of the ICAC Act empowers 
the Commissioner to request the Audi-
tor-General to conduct an examination 
of accounts in any matter subject to an 
assessment, investigation or referral under 
the ICAC Act.

While the Auditor-General has been con-
sulted in relation to a number of matters, 
the Commissioner has not requested the 
Auditor-General to conduct an examina-
tion of accounts.

PUBLIC STATEMENTS

The Commissioner may make a public 
statement in connection with a particular 
matter if, in the Commissioner’s opinion, 
it is appropriate to do so in the public 
interest, having regard to the criteria set 
out in section 25 of the ICAC Act.

In the reporting period the Commissioner 
did not make a public statement in accor-
dance with section 25 of the ICAC Act.
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REFERRAL 
FOR INVESTIGATION

The Commissioner determined to refer 
82 complaints and reports which were 
assessed as raising a potential issue 
of corruption in public administration 
to SAPOL or the Police Ombudsman for 
investigation. The general nature of mat-
ters referred to the Police Ombudsman 
or SAPOL for investigation is set out 
in Figure 6. 
 

 
COMPLAINTS 
REFERRED TO POLICE 
OMBUDSMAN

2

 
COMPLAINTS 
REFERRED TO SAPOL

0

 
REPORTS  
REFERRED TO POLICE 
OMBUDSMAN

19

 
REPORTS  
REFERRED TO SAPOL

61

 
Of the 82 matters referred by the  
Commissioner to the Police Ombuds-
man or SAPOL, the Commissioner has 
been advised that there have been 
three arrests and one report. Disciplinary 
action has been commenced on six 
other occasions.

KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS 

Where the Commissioner determines 
to investigate a matter assessed 
as raising a potential issue of corruption 
in public administration, the Commis-
sioner is assisted by investigators and 
associated staff.

The Operations Team have established 
three Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
aimed at ensuring investigations are 
undertaken in a timely manner. They are:

 » 30% of all investigations will 
be completed within nine months 
of assessment;

 » 70% of all investigations will 
be completed within 12 months 
of assessment; and

 » 95% of all investigations will be com-
pleted within 18 months of assessment.

As at 30 June 2014, the office of the 
Commissioner and the OPI will have been 
operational for ten months. Therefore, 
only the first KPI can be measured. The 
measurement was taken against investi-
gations commenced in either September 
or October 2013, as only those inves-
tigations could have reached the nine 
month mark.

By the end of the reporting period, 53% 
of investigations that were nine months 
old had been completed.
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5%
5%

3%

5%

FIGURE 6 

GENERAL NATURE OF MATTERS 
REFERRED TO POLICE OMBUDSMAN  
OR SAPOL FOR INVESTIGATION

REFERRED TO POLICE OMBUDSMAN

REFERRED TO SAPOL

23%11%23%28%
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THEFT
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EXCERCISE OF POWER 
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ASSAULT

OTHER

OTHER

ASSAULT

DECEPTION 
ASSOCIATED WITH 
EMPLOYMENT 
OR APPOINTMENT 
TO PUBLIC OFFICE

DRUG RELATED 
OFFENCES

BRIBERY

IMPROPER USE/
DISCLOSURE 
OF CONFIDENTIAL 
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CHALLENGES  
& MILESTONES ASSOCIATED 
WITH INVESTIGATIONS

Inevitably, some challenges have arisen. 
Most of those challenges have been 
associated with the creation of an inves-
tigation capability and capacity starting 
from scratch. While guidance was taken 
from existing law enforcement agencies, 
the powers and restrictions imposed 
by the ICAC Act, combined with the nature 
of matters to be investigated by the Com-
missioner, have meant that a number 
of structures and processes have had 
to be developed from the ground up. 
Those structures and procedures continue 
to be reviewed and improved with the 
benefit of operational experience.

Prior to the Commissioner’s commence-
ment, work was undertaken to ensure that 
the Commissioner had an investigative 
capability from the first day of operations. 
That capability has been enhanced, with 
the expansion of the investigation team, 
the procurement of specialist investi-
gative equipment and the entry into 
collaborative arrangements with other law 
enforcement agencies.

While the Commissioner will continue 
to rely on other law enforcement 
agencies for the provision of some spe-
cialist infrastructure and other resources, 
efforts are underway to increase 
skills and resources for the purpose 
of investigations.

The Commissioner and investigators 
have utilised the powers afforded under 
the ICAC Act to carry out investigations 
into corruption in public administration. 
Some of those powers have proven very 
effective in enabling the investigation 
to identify and uncover evidence of value. 

With the benefit of experience, some 
provisions of the ICAC Act, as they relate 
to the investigation of corruption in public 
administration, have created challenges. 
The Commissioner has made submissions 
to government about those difficul-
ties and has requested consideration 
be given to legislative amendment.
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REFERRAL 
MISCONDUCT, MALADMINISTRATION  
& OTHER ISSUES
Some of what follows has been briefly 
alluded to in the Commissioner’s foreword.

Misconduct in public administration means 
a contravention of a code of conduct by  
a public officer while acting in his or her 
capacity as a public officer that constitutes 
a ground for disciplinary action or other 
misconduct of a public officer while acting 
in his or her capacity as a public officer.

Maladministration in public administra-
tion includes conduct of a public officer 
or a practice, policy or procedure of a 
public authority that results in an irregular 
and unauthorised use of public money 
or substantial mismanagement of public 
resources. It also includes conduct 
of a public officer involving substantial 
mismanagement in or in relation to the 
performance of official functions.

Where a matter is assessed as raising 
a potential issue of misconduct and/
or maladministration in public administra-
tion, the Commissioner must either:

 » refer the matter to an inquiry agency;

 » refer the matter to an inquiry agency 
but then exercise the powers 
of the inquiry agency in respect 
of the matter; or 

 » refer the matter to a public authority.

DIRECTIONS OR GUIDANCE

Where a matter is referred to an 
inquiry agency or public authority, the 
Commissioner may, if the Commis-
sioner considers it appropriate, give 
directions or guidance to the agency 
or authority in respect of the referral.

The ICAC Act does not specify the 
types of directions or guidance that may 
be given. Sections 37(2) and 38(2) pro-
vide that, while not limiting the directions 
or guidance that may be given to an 
inquiry agency or public authority, the 
directions or guidance can include:

 » a requirement that the authority submit 
a report or reports on action taken 
in respect of the matter as set out 
in the directions; and

 » a recommendation as to the action 
that should be taken by the authority 
and the period within which it should 
be taken.

Within his Directions and Guidelines pub-
lished in accordance with section 20 of 
the ICAC Act, the Commissioner set out 
the standard directions and guidance that 
an inquiry agency or public authority could 
expect to receive with a referral.

Those ‘standard directions’ have been 
issued in respect of every referral of a 
potential issue of misconduct and/or mal-
administration in public administration 
to an inquiry agency or public authority. 

On one occasion, those directions were 
supplemented with further directions fol-
lowing the receipt of further information 
from the public authority concerned.

OVERSIGHT OF REFERRALS

When a matter raising a potential issue 
of misconduct and/or maladministra-
tion is referred to an inquiry agency 
or public authority, the Commissioner 
continues to have an important role 
to ensure that action is duly and prop-
erly taken in relation to the matter.

By requiring the inquiry agency or public 
authority to report back to the Com-
missioner as to the action taken and 
the reasons for it, the Commissioner 
ensures that there is an indepen-
dent review of the action taken.

If the Commissioner is not satisfied that 
an inquiry agency or public authority 
has duly and properly taken action, the 
Commissioner must inform that agency 
or authority of the grounds of the Com-
missioner’s dissatisfaction and give 
the agency or authority an opportunity 
to comment. Ultimately, if the Com-
missioner remains dissatisfied, the 
Commissioner can prepare a report which 
is tabled in both Houses of Parliament set-
ting out the grounds of the dissatisfaction.
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MATTERS REFERRED 
TO OMBUDSMAN

19

(8 COMPLAINTS + 11 REPORTS)

MATTERS REFERRED 
TO POLICE 
OMBUDSMAN

45 

(14 COMPLAINTS + 31 REPORTS)

MATTERS REFERRED 
TO COMMISSIONER 
FOR PUBLIC SECTOR 
EMPLOYMENT

1

(1 REPORT)

 
The general nature of matters referred 
to an inquiry agency is set out in Figure 7. 

REFERRAL OF MATTERS 
TO INQUIRY AGENCY

The ICAC Act defines an inquiry agency 
as the Ombudsman, the Police Ombuds-
man, the Commissioner for Public Sector 
Employment or a person declared by reg-
ulation to be an inquiry agency. 

No persons have been declared by regu-
lation to be an inquiry agency.

In the reporting period, 65 matters were 
assessed as raising a potential issue 
of misconduct and/or maladministration 
in public administration and were referred 
to an inquiry agency.

FAILURE 
TO COMPLY 

WITH POLICY 
OR PROCEDURE

FIGURE 7 

GENERAL NATURE OF MATTERS  
REFERRED TO INQUIRY AGENCY

16%11%63%

7% 40%11%15%27%

REFERRED TO POLICE OMBUDSMAN

REFERRED TO OMBUDSMAN

IMPROPER USE/
DISCLOSURE 
OF CONFIDENTIAL 
INFORMATION

CONFLICT OF INTEREST
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IMPROPER USE/ 
DISCLOSURE 

OF CONFIDENTIAL 
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5%
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OR PROCEDURE

MISUSE 
OF PUBLIC 
MONEY

FAILURE 
TO EXCERCISE/
INAPPROPRIATE 
EXCERCISE 
OF POWER

FAILURE TO ACT 
WITH HONESTY 
AND INTEGRITY

INAPPROPRIATE 
CONDUCT 
TOWARD 
A MEMBER OF  
THE PUBLIC

FAILURE 
TO EXERCISE/
INAPPROPRIATE 
EXERCISE 
OF POWER

1
MATTER REFERRED 
TO COMMISSIONER 
FOR PUBLIC SECTOR 
EMPLOYMENT (IMPROPER 
USE OF CONFIDENTIAL 
INFORMATION)
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EXERCISE OF THE POWERS 
OF AN INQUIRY AGENCY

The Commissioner may, at his discretion, 
determine to exercise the powers of an 
inquiry agency in respect of a matter 
assessed as raising a potential issue 
of misconduct and/or maladministration 
in public administration.

The ICAC Act is silent in relation to the 
circumstances in which the Commissioner 
may exercise the powers of an inquiry 
agency in respect of such a matter. 

The Commissioner has exercised the 
powers of an inquiry agency in respect 
of a matter on 22 occasions. 

NUMBER OF TIMES 
EXERCISED POWERS 
OF OMBUDSMAN

15

(5 COMPLAINTS + 9 REPORTS, 
+ 1 OWN INITIATIVE)

NUMBER OF TIMES 
EXERCISED POWERS 
OF POLICE 
OMBUDSMAN

5

(3 COMPLAINTS + 2 REPORTS)

NUMBER OF TIMES 
EXERCISED POWERS 
OF COMMISSIONER 
FOR PUBLIC SECTOR 
EMPLOYMENT

2

(2 REPORTS)

The general nature of those occasions 
is set out in Figure 8.

The Commissioner has exercised the 
powers of an inquiry agency for a number 
of reasons, including:

 » the existence of a concurrent 
and related investigation into 
a potential issue of corruption 
in public administration;

 » at the request of the inquiry agency 
due to resource limitations or other 
factors; or

 » where the inquiry agency has  
disagreed with the Commis-
sioner in relation to the need 
for further investigation.

On some occasions, where a matter 
raised a potential issue of corruption 
in public administration and a potential 
issue of misconduct and/or maladmin-
istration in public administration, the 
Commissioner investigated the matter and 
exercised the powers of an inquiry agency 
in relation to the matter, thereby allowing 
the Commissioner to investigate both the 
allegation of corruption and the allegation 
of misconduct and/or maladministration 
at the same time. 

In the reporting period, five matters which 
were assessed as raising both a potential 
issue of corruption in public administra-
tion and a potential issue of misconduct 
and/or maladministration in public 
administration were investigated by the 
Commissioner and the Commissioner 
exercised the powers of an inquiry agency 
in respect of the same matters.

REFERRAL OF MATTERS 
TO A PUBLIC AUTHORITY

For the purposes of the ICAC Act, public 
authorities are those persons and entities 
listed in Schedule 1 of that Act.

The Commissioner referred 52 matters 
to a public authority (15 complaints, 
36 reports and one own initiative). The 
general nature of those referred matters 
is listed in Figure 10.

One matter assessed as raising a potential 
issue of misconduct and/or maladminis-
tration was referred to an inquiry agency 
then subsequently referred to a 
public authority.

REFERRAL OF OTHER 
MATTERS

Where a matter is assessed as raising 
other issues that should be dealt with 
by an inquiry agency, public author-
ity or public officer, the matter must 
be referred, or the complainant or report-
ing agency advised to refer the matter, 
to the agency, authority or officer.

The Commissioner referred two matters 
raising other issues to a public officer. 
Both matters related to the way in which 
a function or power of a public officer 
was exercised.

NO FURTHER ACTION

The Commissioner may decide to take 
no action in respect of a matter that 
is assessed as:

 » being trivial, vexatious or frivolous;

 » having been dealt with 
by an inquiry agency or public 
authority and there is no reason 
to re-examine the matter; or 

 » there being good reason for doing so.

The Commissioner determined to take 
no further action in relation to 327 com-
plaints and 145 reports.
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FIGURE 9 

GENERAL NATURE OF MATTERS 
REFERRED TO A PUBLIC AUTHORITY

21% DISHONESTY ASSOCIATED WITH EMPLOYMENT

18% FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH POLICY OR PROCEDURE

17% FAILURE TO EXERCISE OR INAPPROPRIATE EXERCISE OF POWER

12% INAPPROPRIATE CONDUCT TOWARDS MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC

12% BULLYING/HARASSMENT

12% MISMANAGEMENT IN RELATION TO THE PERFORMANCE OF OFFICIAL FUNCTIONS

4% CONFLICT OF INTEREST

4% MISUSE OF PUBLIC MONEY

FIGURE 8 

GENERAL NATURE OF MATTERS 
IN WHICH COMMISSIONER EXERCISED 
POWERS OF AN INQUIRY AGENCY
4% CONFLICT OF INTEREST

4% BULLYING/HARASSMENT

5% DISHONESTY IN RELATION TO EMPLOYMENT

5% IMPROPER USE OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

9% MISMANAGEMENT

14% INAPPROPRIATE CONDUCT TOWARD MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC

41% FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH POLICY/FAILURE TO CARRY OUT FUNCTION

18% INAPPROPRIATE EXERCISE OF POWER
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EDUCATION, PREVENTION,  
& COMMUNICATIONS

ICAC AWARENESS

In December 2013, a survey of public 
officers in state government was under-
taken with the assistance of the Institute 
for Public Administration Australia (‘IPAA’). 
The aim of the survey was to gauge, 
early in the Commissioner's operations, 
the extent of understanding of public 
officers of the role of the Commissioner 
and the OPI, and views of public officers 
in relation to identifying and reporting cor-
ruption, misconduct and maladministration 
in public administration.

Of 2200 responses received, 15% 
of respondents had not heard 
of the Commissioner and 43% 
had not heard of the OPI. 

The Commissioner and his staff 
responded to this information by  
delivering a high number  
of targeted education sessions.

ICAC EDUCATION SESSIONS

Between 2 September 2013 and 30 June 
2014, the Commissioner and his staff have 
delivered 116 education sessions (includ-
ing 75 delivered by the Commissioner 
personally) which were attended by 6200 
people, mainly public officers. This far 
exceeded the target of delivering 60 ses-
sions to 2000 people by 30 June 2014.

Sessions have been conducted in met-
ropolitan and country locations and have 
targeted public officers in state and local 
government, non-government organisa-
tions, private entities and associations.
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LOCAL GOVERNMENT 16% 10%

STATE GOVERNMENT 

(INC. STATUTORY 

BODIES)

61% 52%

NON-GOVERNMENT 

(INC. PRIVATE 

INDUSTRY, 

UNIVERSITIES, 

ACADEMICS)

13% 16%

COMBINATION 

OF LOCAL, STATE 

AND NON- 

GOVERNMENT

6% 20%

OTHER 4% 2%

 
In addition, the Commissioner and his 
staff have contributed to forums and con-
ferences, including the South Australian 
Procurement Forum (attended by approxi-
mately 340 state government employees), 
the Institute of Public Works Engineering 
Australasia conference and the Flinders 
University Whistleblowers forum. 

One of the Commissioner’s functions is to 
conduct or facilitate education programs 
designed to prevent or minimise corrup-
tion, misconduct or maladministration 
in public administration. The Commis-
sioner and his staff have been committed 
to this function since the commencement 
of operations. 

While the Education, Prevention and 
Communications Team consists of only 
two FTEs, it works collaboratively with 
other teams to discharge a range 
of functions, including:

 » development, coordination and  
delivery of training;

 » development and production of infor-
mation materials and publications, 
such as information brochures and 
multimedia resources;

 » website content and maintenance; and

 » media liaison.

DELIVERY OF  
EDUCATION SESSIONS 
PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT

Through the PIR Project, information 
in relation to the introduction of the 
ICAC Act, the functions of the Commis-
sioner, the OPI and mandatory reporting 
obligations was disseminated to public 
authorities and public officers. A number 
of presentations were undertaken by the 
Commissioner, prior to his appoint-
ment, and project staff in order to build 
upon the information disseminated and 
to answer questions.

However, despite this work, and 
extensive media coverage afforded 
to the Commissioner at the time of his 
commencement, awareness of the Com-
missioner and the OPI was low when 
operations commenced.
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The Commissioner’s education activities 
have thus far primarily focussed upon 
improving public officers' awareness 
of the role of the Commissioner and the 
OPI and on the mandatory reporting 
obligations imposed upon every public 
officer. At the same time, work com-
menced on the development of education 
materials dealing with issues of cul-
ture and governance, which influence 
individual behaviour.

In December 2013, following a recommen-
dation by the Commissioner, the State 
Government Senior Management Council 
agreed to make mandatory a training 
program dealing with culture and good 
governance, combined with awareness 
training about the Commissioner and the 
OPI, to every executive in the South Aus-
tralian Executive Service (‘SAES’). 

That training, entitled 'Identify, analyse 
and respond to integrity breaches' was 
designed as a four hour seminar and 
included training in relation to:

 » understanding the nature of corruption 
in public administration and in society;

 » distinguishing corruption, miscon-
duct and maladministration in public 
administration; 

 » the architecture of preven-
tion and control, building and 
maintaining integrity; and 

 » the ICAC Act, functions 
and responsibilities.

The training was delivered to 585 SAES 
executives over 12 seminars, and was pre-
sented by Professor Adam Graycar from 
the Australian National University and 
by the Commissioner and the CEO. 

Feedback from the sessions was positive.

While the focus of education sessions 
has been on public officers, information 
has also been produced for delivery 
to the general public. With the assistance 
of Public Library Services, information bro-
chures have been made available in 153 
public libraries in South Australia, in addi-
tion to being accessible via touch screen 
stations in libraries and local council 
offices. Information is available 24 hours 
a day on the ICAC website. 

MEDIA

While the Commissioner did not make 
a public statement in relation to a com-
plaint, report, investigation or referral, 
he has made himself available to the 
media to discuss the operations of the 
office of the Commissioner and the OPI. 
In the reporting period, the office received 
and responded to 43 media enquiries and 
the Commissioner took part in 20 media 
interviews across print, radio, television 
and online. 

While there may be some frustration that 
more information about active investiga-
tions is not released, the Commissioner 
is committed to carrying out his functions 
in accordance with the requirements 
of the ICAC Act, and in a way that does 
not prejudice or jeopardise future prose-
cutions or disciplinary action.

Website

Section 48 of the ICAC Act requires the 
Commissioner to have a website which 
makes available information of the kind 
prescribed in that section. 

Since the website went ‘live’ at 12:00am 
on 1 September 2013, there have been 
approximately 95,700 page views from 
over 10,500 unique viewers (an aver-
age of around 316 page views per day). 
On average, the website is visited by 35 
individuals per day.

The website design and content is pres-
ently under review. During the second 
year of operation the Commissioner 
will introduce a more sophisticated 
website, which will include more 
resources, more information and 
a quarterly ICAC/OPI newsletter. 

The new website will also be the gateway 
to a new learning management system 
which is currently in development.

“valuable insight into integrity 

breaches and how one should 

react in the circumstances”

“corruption in the public service 

is everyone’s responsibility – 

we should all attend and receive 

refresher updates…”

STATEMENTS FROM PARTICIPANTS
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The Commissioner is empowered under 
section 40 of the ICAC Act to conduct 
an evaluation of the practices, policies and 
procedures of an inquiry agency or public 
authority. Section 41 permits the Commis-
sioner to make recommendations to an 
inquiry agency or public authority about 
changes to, or the review of, practices, 
policies or procedures or the conduct of, 
or participation in, educational programs.

The Commissioner may, in accordance 
with section 42 of the ICAC Act, pre-
pare a report setting out, amongst other 
things, recommendations made or other 
matters that the Commissioner consid-
ers should be disclosed in the public 
interest. A copy of that report must 
be provided to the Attorney-General, 
the President of the Legislative Coun-
cil and the Speaker of the House 
of Assembly. The report is ultimately 
laid before both Houses of Parliament.

EVALUATIONS/ 
RECOMMENDATIONS

The Commissioner’s focus for the first 
ten months of operation has been the 
establishment of an organisation capa-
ble of receiving, assessing, investigating 
and referring matters involving corrup-
tion, misconduct and maladministration 
in public administration.

For that reason, the Commissioner 
did not exercise his powers under 
sections 40, 41 or 42 of the ICAC 
Act in the reporting period.
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Before commencing as the Commissioner, 
I stated publicly that I did not think that 
I would find widespread or systemic cor-
ruption in public administration. I think the 
first ten months of operational experience 
has confirmed that view.

Nevertheless, a number of matters have 
been reported to the OPI, and ultimately 
to me, that are of concern. Those matters 
will, of course, be dealt with in accordance 
with the ICAC Act. 

The first ten months’ experience has 
confirmed in my mind the important role 
that an integrity agency of this kind plays 
in preserving public confidence in the 
integrity of government. There is, in my 
view, little doubt that the introduction 
of the ICAC Act itself has made public 
authorities and public officers more aware 
of their ethical obligations and the risks 
associated with behaviour that does not 
reach community expectations.

LEGISLATIVE CHALLENGES

There have been challenges. The ICAC 
Act itself and its interaction with other 
legislation has created some difficulties, 
not least of which is the strict regime 
of confidentiality created under the 
ICAC Act. I have already stated publicly 
that those confidentiality provisions are, 
in my opinion, over-engineered. While 
it is appropriate that confidentiality pro-
tections are in place to avoid prejudice 
to the reputation of persons involved 
in investigations or to the effectiveness 
of the investigations themselves, those 
protections should not be so prescriptive 
as to interfere with the day to day func-
tions of government. The feedback that 
my office and I have received is that the 
protections are having that effect.  

I have raised with the Deputy Premier 
and Attorney-General (‘Deputy Premier’) 
the need to re-visit the confidentiality 
provisions within the ICAC Act, as well 
as some other provisions. The Deputy 
Premier has told me that he will intro-
duce a Bill to address all of the matters 
that I have raised with him. I am hopeful 
that Parliament will favourably consider 
those proposals. I remain ready to explain 
why it is that I think the proposals 
are necessary.

INQUIRY AGENCIES

The Commissioner and the OPI have not 
replaced the South Australian Ombuds-
man, the Police Ombudsman or the 
Commissioner for Public Sector Employ-
ment. Those inquiry agencies continue 
to carry out important functions and 
remain an important part of the modern 
integrity system. 

It is unremarkable that, with the introduc-
tion of the office of the Commissioner 
and the OPI there has, on occasions, 
been disagreement and robust discus-
sion amongst inquiry agencies about 
the manner in which the ICAC Act has 
changed the legislative framework within 
which we all operate, the manner in which 
certain types of matters should be han-
dled, and other operational issues. 

Nevertheless, I am pleased with the 
manner in which our respective agencies 
have conducted themselves in order 
to give effect to the new integrity regime 
in South Australia. I am confident that 
the partnerships that have been built 
over the course of the first 12 months will 
be strengthened with the passage of time. 

PROSECUTIONS

In some matters that I have referred 
to SAPOL to investigate, charges have 
been laid. There has yet to be a prosecu-
tion arising from an investigation carried 
out by my office. That will disappoint some 
people. However, when one considers the 
often complex and painstaking manner 
in which corruption investigations must 
be undertaken, it is not surprising that 
after only ten months of operation there 
is yet to be a prosecution. 

Investigations under my direction will 
be conducted in a thorough and profes-
sional manner. My investigators and I will 
follow the facts, wherever they may lead. 
I will not be driven by external expecta-
tions that success is measured only by the 
number of public officers prosecuted. 
Rather, I will investigate matters properly 
and ensure that, where I consider that 
there is sufficient evidence to warrant 
prosecution, that evidence will be pro-
vided to a prosecution authority in a timely 
manner. Indeed, I anticipate providing evi-
dence in relation to several matters to a 
prosecution authority in the near future. 
Whether or not a prosecution ensues 
is then a matter for that authority.

COMMISSIONER’S REPORT
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COMPLAINTS AND REPORTS

Between 2 September 2013 and 30 June 
2014, the OPI received a combined total 
of 923 complaints and reports.  
The general nature of those complaints 
and reports, and the action taken in rela-
tion to them, is detailed elsewhere in this 
annual report.

As anticipated, a number of complaints 
and reports sought to re-agitate his-
torical matters. In many cases, those 
matters had already been the subject 
of assessment and investigation by exist-
ing bodies. Nevertheless, each and 
every complaint and report has been 
considered in accordance with the ICAC 
Act. Where further information was 
required to properly assess a complaint 
or report, that information was sought. 

In a number of cases, I have decided that 
there is good reason not to take action 
in relation to the complaint or report. 

In some cases, I have determined to inves-
tigate the matter myself even though the 
matter has been previously investigated. 
I have done so where I consider that the 
matter deserves review. I appreciate that 
the review of ‘old’ matters has created 
an additional burden on some public 
authorities and public officers in circum-
stances where it was considered that the 
matter had been previously addressed. 
Nevertheless, it is an important function 
of the Commissioner to be satisfied that 
all matters, even those investigated 
by other bodies, have been properly and 
thoroughly addressed.

I do not intend to canvass in any detail 
the array of matters that have been the 
subject of a complaint or report to the 
OPI, or the matters that have been, 
or are currently, the subject of investiga-
tion. In broad terms, the matters reflect 
the well understood risks of corruption 
that have been the subject of academic 
research. Areas of high risk include 
access to and use of confidential 
information, tender and procurement 
processes, regulatory decisions, decep-
tion, workplace theft and favouritism. 

I am pleased that some public authori-
ties either have in place or are actively 
incorporating more stringent controls 
to mitigate risks of inappropriate  
conduct in these high risk areas. I look 
forward to continuing to work with public 
authorities to strengthen systems and 
controls targeted toward reducing  
the incidence of inappropriate conduct 
by a public officer.

Aside from allegations of corruption 
in public administration, other matters 
have been identified in the discharge 
of my duties that warrant comment.

USE OF PRIVATE EMAIL 
TO COMMUNICATE 
OFFICIAL INFORMATION

It has come to my attention that, in at least 
some government offices, personal email 
accounts might be used to convey offi-
cial information between public officers, 
rather than through official government 
email facilities. This type of conduct 
appears to be mainly engaged in by some 
ministerial staffers.

It has been suggested that the reason 
for doing so is to avoid the requirement 
to disclose those emails where an appli-
cation is made under the Freedom 
of Information Act 1991 (‘FOI Act’). 

If it is the case that public officers are 
engaging in this kind of conduct to avoid 
the consequences of the FOI Act, that 
conduct should cease immediately. It is 
a matter of concern that public officers 
would seek to circumvent a legislative 
scheme designed to enhance transpar-
ency in government decision making.

Such conduct might, at the least, amount 
to misconduct in public administration and 
be the subject of investigation and poten-
tial disciplinary action. 

I am told that the FOI Act is often abused. 
If that is so that is a reason to address 
that Act. It is not a reason to frustrate 
the FOI Act. While it remains the law the 
spirit of the Act should be observed by all 
public officers.

Presumably those emails are not main-
tained in accordance with the State 
Records Act 1997 (‘SR Act’) (where that Act 
applies). The conduct therefore might also 
amount to an offence against section 17 of 
the SR Act. An offence against that sec-
tion by a public officer while acting in his 
or her capacity as a public officer would 
amount to corruption in public administra-
tion under the ICAC Act.

Investigations under my direction 

will be conducted in a thorough and 

professional manner. My investigators 

and I will follow the facts, wherever 

they may lead.
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USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA

Social media, in its varied forms, 
represents a useful and increasingly influ-
ential method of communicating matters 
by government to the wider community. 
If used appropriately, it can be an effective 
tool in disseminating important information 
in a timely manner. Indeed, social media 
can also be a valuable tool for promoting 
and engaging in discussion, and on occa-
sion, robust debate about governmental 
decisions and other matters of public 
interest. Discussion and debate of that 
kind will enhance our democratic system.

However, it appears that some public 
officers use social media inappropriately 
by using assumed names. It appears that 
they adopt pseudonyms to vilify other 
public officers; spread false informa-
tion; or disclose confidential information 
in circumstances where it is not in the 
public interest that such information 
be disclosed. That type of conduct 
should also cease immediately. 

I doubt whether there is any need for 
any public officer (except in the course 
of law enforcement duties) to utilise 
a false identity to carry out the public 
officer’s duties appropriately.

Accordingly, I invite public officers to con-
sider the manner in which they use social 
media while acting in their capacity 
as public officers and whether that use 
might amount to conduct of the type cap-
tured under the ICAC Act.

INVESTIGATIONS 
UNDERTAKEN BY  
PUBLIC AUTHORITIES

The ICAC Act does not assume that in the 
ordinary course I will investigate mis-
conduct or maladministration but rather 
assumes that matters involving suspected 
misconduct or maladministration will 
be referred to an inquiry agency (i.e. the 
Ombudsman, the Police Ombudsman 
or the Commissioner for Public Sector 
Employment) or a public authority. 

On more than one occasion I have been 
concerned by the manner in which 
a public authority has undertaken 
investigations into misconduct or malad-
ministration within its organisation. Where 
a public authority is required to deal with 
a matter referred by me, an investiga-
tion should be undertaken to determine 
the facts; to identify wrongdoing (if any); 
and detect shortcomings in practice, 
policy or procedure. An investigation 
should have the overarching purpose 
of determining the truth and minimising 
opportunities for further misconduct 
or maladministration.

A public authority should not conduct 
an investigation with the aim at the 
outset to minimise the seriousness of the 
conduct, diminish responsibility for inap-
propriate behaviour or camouflage poor 
systems or procedures. A superficial 
investigation directed toward ensur-
ing the best ‘look’ for an organisation 
is inappropriate and unsatisfactory. Some 
investigations that have been brought 
to my attention appear to be directed 
at achieving that end.

Not all public authorities have skilled 
investigators or sufficient expertise 
to carry out investigations. Often an inves-
tigation relates to serious allegations 
of misconduct, misuse of public money 
or mismanagement of public resources. 
The public ought to be able to be 
confident that such investigations are 
undertaken thoroughly and professionally. 

A Government Investigation Unit 
(‘GIU’), used to operate from within the 
Attorney-General’s Department. The 
GIU ceased to exist as a unit in 2012. 
While some government investigators 
remain employed within the Crown 
Solicitor’s Office or state government 
agencies, no unit of experienced and 
skilled investigators exists that is capable 
of undertaking investigations at both the 
state and local government level. Indeed, 
only one out of the three inquiry agencies 
in this state has dedicated investigators. 

Although the Local Government Associa-
tion has established the Local Government 
Governance Panel, that panel only inves-
tigates and advises Council in relation 
to complaints of misconduct by council 
members. It has no role to play in relation 
to the investigation of alleged misconduct 
or maladministration by council employ-
ees or maladministration by councils. 

A public authority should not conduct 

an investigation where the aim at  

the outset is to minimise the 

seriousness of the conduct, diminish 

responsibility for inappropriate 

behaviour or camouflage poor 

systems or procedures.
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I am aware that, in some cases when 
I have referred matters to a local coun-
cil, the council has engaged private law 
or accounting firms (presumably at signif-
icant cost) to undertake an investigation 
in relation to alleged misconduct or mal-
administration in public administration. 
I do not think that retaining lawyers 
or accountants to carry out investigations 
of that kind is desirable because of the 
cost to councils. 

I think consideration should be given 
to whether there ought to be a centralised 
and dedicated team of investigators, 
available to all public authorities (including 
local government), to assist in carrying 
out investigations into misconduct or mal-
administration and/or providing advice 
to public authorities in relation to such 
investigations. Whether or not such a team 
should be established would depend 
upon a number of factors, including cost 
and the apportionment of that cost. 

However, such a team of suitably 
experienced and skilled investigators 
may relieve existing resource pres-
sures on public authorities occasioned 
by having to conduct investigations, 
while ensuring those who are carrying 
out the investigation are free of the cul-
tural baggage that might exist where 
the investigator is employed in the same 
office as that in which the investigation 
is being undertaken.

I think that further experience is necessary 
in order to properly determine the merit 
of introducing such a team. I propose 
to consider this issue further and report 
upon it next year. 
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OVERSIGHT OF CONDUCT 
OF MEMBERS OF SA POLICE

South Australian police officers are subject 
to a code of conduct established by reg-
ulation. The manner in which reports and 
subsequent investigations into alleged 
police misconduct are handled is regu-
lated by both the Police Act 1998 (‘Police 
Act’) and the Police (Complaints and Dis-
ciplinary Proceedings) Act 1985 (‘P(CDP) 
Act’). Those Acts create a complex and 
convoluted process for the management 
of police misconduct and the oversight 
of investigations into such conduct. 
Overlaying the legislative scheme are 
internal police orders and procedures 
which build upon the legislative scheme. 

The Police Ombudsman (formerly the 
Police Complaints Authority) is appointed 
to receive complaints about police mis-
conduct and to provide independent 
oversight of investigations into those 
complaints. In almost all cases, those 
investigations are carried out by police 
officers, often from within the Internal 
Investigations Section of SAPOL. 

The Police Act requires a police officer 
who suspects that another police officer 
has committed a breach of the Code 
of Conduct to make a report to the Com-
missioner of Police. 

The Police Ombudsman is of the opin-
ion that such ‘mandatory reports’ fall 
outside of her jurisdiction. For that 
reason, those reports (irrespective 
of their seriousness), have been dealt 
with by SAPOL without independent 
oversight by the Police Ombudsman. 

I do not agree with the Police Ombuds-
man that mandatory reports are outside 
the Police Ombudsman’s jurisdiction. I am 
concerned that a number of allegations 
of police misconduct have not been the 
subject of Police Ombudsman oversight, 
simply because the allegation was raised 
by a police officer and not by a member 
of the public.

The legislative scheme regulating  
police conduct requires review and sim-
plification. All investigations of police 
misconduct should be the subject 
of independent oversight and review, 
irrespective of who has reported the 
alleged misconduct and to whom the 
report is made. The legislative scheme 
should ensure that such oversight takes 
place in an efficient and uncomplicated 
manner, so as to minimise the poten-
tial for confusion and uncertainty. 

The present system has the potential 
to diminish public confidence in the 
independence of the Police Ombuds-
man, particularly in so far as the system 
provides that the Commissioner of Police 
may disagree with directions, decisions 
and recommendations of the independent 
oversight body. At present, the P(CDP) Act 
makes the Police Ombudsman’s task more 
difficult than it need be.

In 2010 the Deputy Premier published 
a report entitled ‘A Review of the Public 
Integrity Institutions in South Australia and 
an integrated model for the future’ and 
sought submissions. 

The review stated:

2.4.4 The enforced statutory relationship 
between the Police Complaints Authority 
(PCA) and the Commissioner (particu-
larly in respect of provisions entitling the 
Commissioner to disagree with the PCA) 
results in overly complex disciplinary 
procedures. Although possessed of inde-
pendent investigative powers, the PCA 
does not employ its own investigator. It is 
not clear that the current statutory and 
administrative arrangements permit the 
PCA to fulfil a complete and effective 
oversight function. 

2.4.5 South Australia has been very well 
served by its Police Commissioner. There 
ought nonetheless to be a system that 
ensures the relationship between the 
Commissioner and the complaint handling 
mechanism for police is clear and delin-
eated. It ought to be a system where the 
Commissioner and the PCA are at arms 
length as appropriate in the handling 
of complaints. 

I agree with those comments. 

My observations are not to be taken 
as a criticism of the Police Ombudsman, 
her staff, the Commissioner of Police 
or SAPOL staff tasked with the responsi-
bility for carrying out investigations into 
police misconduct. Rather, they reflect 
my concerns about the overly complicated 
legislative and regulatory scheme under 
which allegations of police misconduct 
must be addressed. I am also concerned 
that the members of the public who make 
a complaint about the conduct of police 
officers might not have sufficient confi-
dence in the integrity of the complaints 
handling regime. 

The scheme is in need of overhaul.
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LOBBYISTS

I was asked by the Deputy Premier 
to undertake a review of the Public Sector 
(Honesty and Accountability) Act 1995 
(‘Honesty and Accountability Act’) for the 
purpose of determining whether that Act 
should be amended to include a code 
of conduct for lobbyists.

The purpose of the regulation of lobbying 
generally is to seek to control both the 
conduct of lobbyists, and those lobbied. 
High dollar value lobbying activities are 
most likely to be directed towards Min-
isters, ministerial staff and very senior 
public officers. The present lack of public 
scrutiny as to the conduct of lobbyists, 
combined with the potential for some lob-
byists to use unlawful or improper means 
to achieve results for their clients, creates 
an unacceptable risk of unscrupulous 
behaviour being undetected.

I will provide my response to the 
Deputy Premier in due course. How-
ever, I am presently inclined to the 
view that an Act that deals solely with 
lobbyists is a better solution. 

Some other Australian jurisdictions have 
passed, or have considered passing, 
stand-alone legislation dealing with the 
conduct of lobbyists, and it is likely that 
I will recommend that the State Govern-
ment consider the introduction of similar 
legislation in this State. 

In my opinion, the public’s concern about 
lobbyists’ conduct would be alleviated 
if lobbyists seeking to influence gov-
ernment were obliged to expose their 
activities to public scrutiny. Moreover, 
proper records of ethical lobbying would 
serve to protect both the lobbyist and the 
persons lobbied from speculation, rumour 
and unjust criticism.

In Queensland, a dedicated Integrity 
Commissioner administers the lobbyists 
register and monitors the interaction 
of lobbyists and government and local 
government. The Commissioner may 
refuse to register a lobbyist or may 
remove a lobbyist from the register. The 
consequence of being refused access 
to the register is that the lobbyist may not 
have contact with a government or local 
government representative for the pur-
pose of lobbying.

The Integrity Commissioner also provides 
advice to various ‘designated persons’ 
about any ethical or integrity issues, 
including a conflict of interest issue. 
Designated persons include Ministers, 
parliamentary secretaries, Members 
of Parliament, statutory officers and 
chief executives.

It may be that there needs to be a person 
or body in South Australia with respon-
sibilities like those of the Integrity 
Commissioner in Queensland.

I will consider that issue further and  
report on it next year.

POLITICAL DONATIONS

While Commonwealth legislation 
prescribes disclosure rules relating 
to donations to federally registered polit-
ical parties there are no South Australian 
laws relating to when, and in what circum-
stances, a person may make a donation 
to a political party. 

The potential to improperly influ-
ence high level government decision 
making through the making of polit-
ical donations is obvious. 

There should be discussion about 
whether or not there ought to be addi-
tional state-based donation disclosure 
requirements, a cap on political donations 
and/or whether those with a vested inter-
est in state government decision making 
(e.g. property developers) should be pro-
hibited from making donations altogether. 
Such legislation has been enacted in New 
South Wales. 

Whether or not such laws are appropriate 
is, of course, a matter for Parliament.

I note in passing that, under the Local 
Government (Election) Act 1999, a person 
standing for election to local govern-
ment is required to comply with a range 
of disclosure obligations associated with 
campaign donations. There is no com-
mensurate disclosure requirement for 
those standing for State Parliament.

In my opinion, the public’s concern 

about lobbyists’ conduct would 

be alleviated if lobbyists seeking 

to influence government were 

obliged to expose their activities 

to public scrutiny.
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CODE OF CONDUCT 
FOR MEMBERS 
OF PARLIAMENT

Most public officers are subject to an 
established code of conduct, including:

 » public sector employees;

 » police officers;

 » protective security officers;

 » elected members of local government;

 » employees of local government; and

 » Ministers of the Crown.

Regrettably, there is no code of con-
duct for Members of Parliament. A Bill 
was introduced into Parliament which 
addressed this issue but it has not pro-
gressed past that stage. In 2004 a Joint 
Select Committee charged with consid-
ering a code of conduct for Members 
of Parliament observed at that time that 
six Australian legislatures had such a code 
but not the South Australian legislature. 
It is of course a matter for Parliament as to 
whether and how it should regulate its 
members’ conduct but in my view, the 
community is entitled to expect that their 
elected members will act ethically and 
with integrity. Adherence to an established 
code of conduct would demonstrate the 
agreed ethical principles to which Mem-
bers of Parliament should adhere.

I note that the Government has already 
committed to the introduction of such 
a code. In the ‘Agreement to support 
stable and effective Government’ signed 
by the Hon. Jay Weatherill MP and the 
Hon. Geoff Brock MP on 22 March 2014, 
it is said that: 

 » The Government and the Independent 
Member agree that there is justified 
concern in the community about the 
standards of parliamentary conduct. 

 » The Government will work together 
with the Independent Member and the 
Parliament to introduce a code of con-
duct for members of Parliament.

I urge Members of Parliament to work 
together to establish a code of conduct 
to lay the foundations for acceptable con-
duct and define the mechanism to deal 
with unacceptable conduct.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
CODES OF CONDUCT

When the ICAC Act commenced, con-
sequential amendments were made 
to the Local Government Act 1999, 
which empowered the Governor to issue 
mandatory codes of conduct for elected 
members of local government and 
employees of local government.

Since the introduction of those mandatory 
codes, I have been advised of a number 
of difficulties associated with their appli-
cation, particularly in relation to the gifts 
and benefits requirements. I am told that 
the codes are interfering with the busi-
ness of local government. I agree that the 
codes are inflexible and in some respects 
interfere with local government business. 

I have written to the Minister for Local 
Government outlining what I consider are 
the problems with the codes of conduct 
and the Minister has announced that  
he is carrying out a review of those codes. 

At his request, I am making suggestions 
for changes to those codes.

WHISTLEBLOWERS  
PROTECTION

The ICAC Act amended the Whis-
tleblowers Protection Act 1993 (‘WBP 
Act’) by inserting section 13 which 
requires the Deputy Premier to conduct 
a review of the operation and effec-
tiveness of the WBP Act. The Deputy 
Premier asked me to carry out that 
review which I am presently writing. 
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My present view is that there is much 

to be said for making the OPI the ‘one 

stop shop’.

INTEGRITY REFORM 
INTO THE FUTURE

While my office and the OPI are still very 
much in their infancies, it is important 
to look forward to ways in which the 
integrity landscape in this State can 
be improved.

I have identified three areas of potential 
reform which may warrant consideration. 

First, there remains duplication in rela-
tion to the assessment of complaints and 
reports about public administration. While 
the OPI receives complaints and reports 
about public administration, so does the 
Ombudsman, the Police Ombudsman, and 
other statutory bodies tasked with over-
seeing different parts of government.

It was originally intended that the 
OPI be the ‘one stop shop’ for the 
triaging of complaints and reports 
about public administration. 

The 2010 Review published by the 
Deputy Premier to which I have already 
referred said:

5.0.4 The current system is confusing 
to the public. It is proposed that there 
be a Public Integrity Office (PIO) to handle 
complaints, with a ‘no wrong number, 
no wrong door’ approach. There would 
be a central notification point to which all 
complaints may be directed.

5.0.5 That notification point should 
be independent of any agency to be 
investigated. The responsibility to initially 
assess and allocate those complaints 
to the correct investigator should lie with 
the system, not the public. The PIO should 
also monitor, audit and report on such 
complaints to Parliament through the 
Commissioner for Public Integrity. 

5.0.6 The introduction of the Public Integ-
rity Office would not preclude members 
of the public presenting complaints direct 
to individual agencies, as they do now.

5.1.1 The Public Integrity Office would be a 
‘one stop shop’ for taking complaints from 
the public, whether that be in person or by 
telephone or written communication.

That has not so far occurred.

I have already started speaking with rel-
evant agencies about ways of reducing 
duplication and improving work flows 
for the management of complaints and 
reports about public administration. 
I intend to broaden those discussions 
in the near future. I will then make rec-
ommendations to government about how 
such improvements might be realised.

My present view is that there is much 
to be said for making the OPI the ‘one 
stop shop’.

Secondly, the manner in which the ICAC 
Act and other agency Acts integrate is not 
always seamless. In due course I envisage 
that further amendment to other Acts, 
including the Ombudsman Act 1972 and 
the Police (Complaints and Disciplinary 
Proceedings) Act 1985 will be required 
to ensure that the integrity regime in this 
State operates efficiently and as intended.

Finally, I anticipate recommending that 
a review be undertaken of training given 
to all public officers in relation to their 
ethical responsibilities. In my view, train-
ing in relation to ethical responsibilities 
and the discharge of duties with integrity 
should be a core component of every 
public officer’s induction and ongoing 
training regime. Such training should, 
in my view, be mandatory and consistent.
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FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

FOR THE PERIOD 
1 SEPTEMBER 2013 
TO 30 JUNE 2014
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Note 2014
No. $’000

Income
Donated assets 23 3,895

5 19
3,914

Expenses
6 3,689
7 1,822
8 257
9 29

5,797
1,883

Revenues from SA Government
4 8,189

Net result 6,306
6,306

The net result and total comprehensive result are attributable to the SA Government as owner.
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Total comprehensive result

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

Net cost of providing services

Revenues from SA Government

Total income
Recoveries and other income

Employee benefits expenses
Supplies and services

Total expenses
Auditor's remuneration 
Depreciation and amortisation
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Note 2014
No. $’000

10 4,316
11 89

4,405

12A 3,866
3,866
8,271

14 587
Employee benefits 15 476
Lease incentives liability 16 72

1,135

14 21
Employee benefits 15 229
Lease incentives liability 16 580

830
1,965
6,306

6,306
6,306

The total equity is attributable to the SA Government as owner. 0 )(

Unrecognised contractual commitments 17
18

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Payables

Total non-current liabilities

Total Equity

Equity

Payables

Total assets

Total liabilities
Net Assets

Retained earnings

Total current liabilities

Current liabilities

Total non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

Receivables

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2014

Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

Total current assets
Non-current assets
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Retained 
earnings Total

$’000 $’000
- -              

6,306 6,306
6,306 6,306
6,306 6,306

All changes in equity are attributable to the SA Government as owner.

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

Balance at 1 September 2013
Net result for 2013-14
Total comprehensive result for 2013-14
Balance at 30 June 2014
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Note 2014
No. Inflows

(Outflows)
$’000

19
Donated cash 3,772

3,791

Employee Benefits Payments ( 2,903 )
Supplies and Services ( 1,672 )

( 4,575 )

8,189
8,189

19 7,405

( 3,813 )
( 3,813 )

Lease incentive received 724
724

( 3,089 )
4,316

-
10 4,316

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Cash outflows
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Net cash (used in)  investing activities

Cash used in investing activities
Cash inflows

Cash generated from investing activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

Cash inflows

Cash used in operations

Recoveries

Cash generated from operations
Cash outflows

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from SA Government
Receipts from SA Government
Cash generated from SA Government
Net cash provided by operating activities
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Note 1 Objectives of the Independent Commissioner Against Corruption
Note 2 Summary of significant accounting policies
Note 3 New and revised accounting standards and policies

Note 4 Revenues from SA Government
Note 5 Recoveries and other income

Expense Notes
Note 6 Employee benefits expenses
Note 7 Supplies and services
Note 8 Depreciation and amortisation
Note 9 Auditor’s remuneration

Asset Notes
Note 10 Cash and cash equivalents 
Note 11 Receivables
Note 12 Property, plant and equipment
Note 13 Fair value measurement

Liabilities Notes
Note 14 Payables
Note 15 Employee benefits
Note 16 Other liabilities

Other Notes
Note 17 Unrecognised contractual commitments
Note 18 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Note 19 Cash flow reconciliation
Note 20 Transactions with SA Government
Note 21 Financial instruments/financial risk management
Note 22 Events after the reporting period
Note 23 Donated assets

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

NOTE INDEX 

Revenue Notes

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION

The Commissioner has the following functions:

    i)  investigate and refer it for prosecution; or
    ii)  refer it to South Australia Police or the Police Ombudsman for investigation and prosecution;

(f)  to perform other functions conferred on the Commissioner by the ICAC Act.

 •

Note 1 Objectives of the Independent Commissioner Against Corruption

The Independent Commissioner Against Corruption Act 2012  (the ICAC Act) establishes the Independent 
Commissioner Against Corruption (‘the Commissioner’) and the Office for Public Integrity (OPI). 

The OPI is responsible to the Commissioner for the performance of the following functions:
(a) to receive and assess complaints about public administration from members of the public;
(b) to receive and assess reports about corruption, misconduct and maladministration in public administration from 
inquiry agencies, public authorities and public officers;
(c) to make recommendations as to whether and by whom complaints and reports should be investigated;
(d) to perform other functions assigned to the Office by the Commissioner.

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a) Statement of compliance
The Commissioner has prepared this first set of financial statements in compliance with section 23 of the Public Finance 
and Audit Act 1987.  The Commissioner was appointed on 2 September 2013.
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements. The accounts have been prepared in accordance
with relevant Australian Accounting Standards and comply with Treasurer’s Instructions and Accounting Policy
Statements promulgated under the provision of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987 .
As the Commissioner is a not-for-profit entity, Australian Accounting Standards that are applicable to not-for-profit
entities have been applied.

The primary objective of the Commissioner is to:
(a) investigate serious or systemic corruption in public administration; and
(b) refer serious or systemic misconduct or maladministration in public administration to the relevant body, giving 
directions or guidance to the body or exercising the powers of the body as the Commissioner considers appropriate.

(a)  to identify corruption in public administration and to –

(b)  to assist inquiry agencies and public authorities to identify and deal with misconduct and maladministration in public 
administration;

c)  to give directions or guidance to inquiry agencies and public authorities, and to exercise the powers of inquiry 
agencies in dealing with misconduct and maladministration in public administration, as the Commissioner considers 
appropriate;

(d)  to evaluate the practices, policies and procedures of inquiry agencies and public authorities with a view to advancing 
comprehensive and effective systems for preventing or minimising corruption, misconduct and maladministration in 
public administration:
(e) to conduct or facilitate the conduct of educational programs designed to prevent or minimise corruption, misconduct 
and maladministration in public administration;

Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective
have not been adopted for these statements. Refer to Note 3.

b) Basis of preparation
The preparation of the financial statements requires:

the use of certain accounting estimates and requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are outlined in the applicable notes;
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION

 •

 •

 •

 • Receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included.

a) revenues, expenses, financial assets and liabilities where the counterparty/transaction is with an entity
within the SA Government as at reporting date, classified according to their nature;
b) expenses incurred as a result of engaging consultants (as reported in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income);
c) employees whose normal remuneration is equal to or greater than the base executive remuneration level
(within $10,000 bandwidths) and the aggregate of the remuneration paid or payable or otherwise made
available, directly or indirectly by the entity to those employees.

The Commissioner’s Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position, and Statement of Changes
in Equity have been prepared on an accrual basis and are in accordance with historical cost convention, except for
certain assets that were valued in accordance with the applicable valuation policy.

The Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared on a cash basis.

accounting policies to be selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the
underlying transactions or other events are reported; and

compliance with Accounting Policy Statements issued pursuant to section 41 of the Public Finance and
Audit Act 1987 . In the interest of public accountability and transparency the accounting policy statements
require the following note disclosures, which have been included in this financial report:

e) Rounding

All amounts in the financial statements and accompanying notes have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars 
($’000).

f) Taxation
The Commissioner is not subject to income tax. The Commissioner is liable for payroll tax, fringe benefits tax and goods
and services tax (GST). GST collections and payments are carried out by the Attorney-General's Department (AGD) on
behalf of the Commissioner. GST in relation to the Commissioner is reported in the AGD Controlled Financial
Statements.

The financial statements have been prepared for the period commencing 1 September 2013, when the ICAC Act
commenced, to 30 June 2014.  They are presented in Australian currency.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the period ended 30
June 2014.

c) Reporting Entity
The Commissioner must, before 30 September in each year, prepare a report on the operations of the Commissioner
and the OPI as required by section 45 of the ICAC Act.

d) Comparative information

The financial statements have been prepared for the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014 and there is no 
preceding period.

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except :
When the GST incurred on a purchase of goods or services is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation
Office, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the
expense item applicable; and
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION

g) Events after the reporting period

Unrecognised contractual commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or
payable to the Australian Taxation Office. If GST is not payable to, or recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office,
the commitments and contingencies are disclosed on a gross basis.

Adjustments are made to amounts recognised in the financial statements, where an event occurs after 30 June and
before the date the financial statements are authorised for issue, where those events provide information about
conditions that existed at 30 June.
Note disclosure is made about events between 30 June and the date the financial statements are authorised for issue
where the events relate to a condition which arose after 30 June and which may have a material impact on the results of
subsequent years.

h) Income 
Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the flow of economic benefits to the Commissioner will occur
and can be reliably measured.

Income has been aggregated according to its nature and has not been offset unless required or permitted by a specific
accounting standard, or where offsetting reflects the substance of the transaction or other event.

The following are specific recognition criteria:

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Attorney-General's Department is included as part of
receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

i) Expenses
Expenses are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the flow of economic benefits from the Commissioner will
occur and can be reliably measured.
Expenses have been aggregated according to their nature and have not been offset unless required or permitted by a
specific accounting standard, or where offsetting reflects the substance of the transaction or other event.

The following are specific recognition criteria:

Employee benefits expenses
Employee benefit expenses includes all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, non-monetary
benefits and leave entitlements. These are recognised when incurred.

Revenues from SA Government
Appropriations for program funding are recognised as revenues when the Commissioner obtains control over the
funding. Control over appropriations is normally obtained upon receipt. 

Transitional funding and donated asset
Donated assets are recorded as revenue in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Recoveries
Recoveries consist of recoveries from SA Government for accommodation costs. 

Superannuation
The amount charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income represents the contributions made by the
Commissioner to the superannuation plan in respect of current services of current staff. The Department of Treasury and
Finance centrally recognises the superannuation liability in the whole of government financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION

Class of assets

                       
Useful life 
(Years)

Leasehold Improvements Life of lease
Plant and Equipment 1-16
Information Technology 3-12

Assets and liabilities are characterised as either current or non-current in nature.

Cash is measured at nominal value.

The value of leasehold improvements is amortised over the estimated useful life of each improvement, or the unexpired
period of the relevant lease, whichever is shorter.

Depreciation/amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the following classes of
assets as follows:

j) Current and Non-Current Classification

Assets and liabilities that are sold, consumed or realised as part of the normal operating cycle even when they are not
expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting date have been classified as current assets or current
liabilities. All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current.

Depreciation and Amortisation

All non-current assets, having a limited useful life, are systematically depreciated/amortised over their useful lives in a
manner that reflects the consumption of their service potential. Amortisation is used in relation to intangible assets such
as software, while depreciation is applied to tangible assets such as property, plant and equipment.
Assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, on an annual
basis. 

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the
asset are accounted for prospectively by changing the time period or method, as appropriate, which is a change in
accounting estimate.

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as
defined above.

Where asset and liability line items combine amounts expected to be realised within twelve months and more than
twelve months, the Commissioner has separately disclosed the amounts expected to be recovered or settled after more
than twelve months.

k) Assets
Assets have been classified according to their nature and have not been offset unless required or permitted by a specific
accounting standard, or where offsetting reflects the substance of the transaction or other event.

Where an asset line item combines amounts expected to be settled within twelve months and more than twelve months,
the Commissioner has separately disclosed the amounts expected to be recovered after more than twelve months.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position includes deposits with the Treasurer.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION

  identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at measurement date.

Receivables
Receivables include GST receivable, prepayments and other accruals.

Non-Current Asset Acquisition and Recognition

Impairment
All non-current tangible and intangible assets are tested for indication of impairment at each reporting date.  Where there 
is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  An amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss.

Fair Value measurement

Non-current assets are initially recorded at cost or at the value of any liabilities assumed, plus any incidental cost
involved with the acquisition. Non-current assets are subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated
depreciation. Where assets are acquired at no value, or minimal value, they are recorded at fair value in the Statement
of Financial Position. However, if the assets are acquired at no or nominal value as part of a restructure of
administrative arrangements then the assets are recognised at book value i.e. the amount recorded by the transferor
public authority immediately prior to the restructure.
All non-current tangible assets with a value of $10,000 or greater are capitalised. Items with an acquisition cost less than
$10,000 are expensed in the year of acquisition.

Revaluation of Non-Current Assets
All non-current tangible assets are valued at written down current cost (a proxy for fair value); and revaluation of non-
current assets or group of assets is only performed when its fair value at the time of acquisition is greater than $1 million
and estimated useful life is greater than three years.

Non-financial assets

In determining fair value, the Commissioner has taken into account the characteristic of the asset (e.g. condition and
location of the asset and any restrictions on the sale or use of the asset); and the asset’s highest and best use (that is
physically possible, legally permissible, financially feasible).
The Commissioner’s current use is the highest and best use of the asset unless other factors suggest an alternative use
is feasible. As the Commissioner has not identified any factors to suggest an alternative use, fair value measurement is
based on current use.

The carrying amount of non-financial assets with a ‘fair value at the time of acquisition that was less than $1 million or
has an estimated useful life that was less than three years’ are deemed to approximate fair value.

Refer to Note 12A and 13 for disclosure regarding fair value measurement techniques and inputs used to develop fair
value measurements for non-financial assets.

AASB 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received on selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants, in the principal or most advantageous market, at the measurement
date.
The Commissioner classifies fair value measurement using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements, based on the data and assumptions used in the most
recent revaluation.

• Level 1 – traded in active markets and is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for 

• Level 2 – not traded in an active market and are derived from inputs (inputs other than quoted prices
      included within level 1) that are observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3 – not traded in an active market and are derived from unobservable inputs.

Financial assets/liabilities
The Commissioner does not recognise any financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION

Leases

Salaries and wages, annual leave, skills and experience retention leave and sick leave

Payables include creditors, accrued expenses and employment on-costs.
Creditors represent the amounts owing for goods and services received prior to the end of the reporting period that are
unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Creditors include all unpaid invoices received relating to the normal operations
of the Commissioner.
Accrued expenses represent goods and services provided by other parties during the period that are unpaid at the end
of the reporting period and where an invoice has not been received.
All payables are measured at their nominal amount, are unsecured and are normally settled within 30 days from the date
of the invoice or date the invoice is first received. 

Employee benefit on-costs include superannuation contributions and payroll tax in respect to outstanding liabilities for
salaries and wages, long service leave, recreation leave, skills and experience retention leave and pre-retirement leave. 
The Commissioner makes contributions to several State Government and externally managed superannuation schemes.
These contributions are treated as an expense when they occur. There is no liability for payments to beneficiaries as
they have been assumed by the respective superannuation schemes. The only liability outstanding at reporting date
relates to any contributions due but not yet paid to the South Australian Superannuation Board.

l) Liabilities
Liabilities have been classified according to their nature and have not been offset unless required or permitted by a
specific accounting standard, or where offsetting reflects the substance of the transaction or other event.

Where a liability line item combines amounts expected to be settled within twelve months and more than twelve months,
the Commissioner has separately disclosed the amounts expected to be settled after more than twelve months.

Payables

The liability for salary and wages is measured as the amount unpaid at the reporting date at remuneration rates current
at reporting date.
Where the annual leave liability and the skills and experience retention leave liability are expected to be payable within
twelve months, the liability has been measured at the undiscounted amount expected to be paid.
No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non-vesting and the average sick leave taken in future
years by employees is estimated to be less than the annual entitlement for sick leave.

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement. 
The Commissioner has entered into operating leases. Operating lease payments are expensed on a basis which is
representative of the pattern of benefits derived from the leased assets. 

Lease incentives
All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed operating lease are recognised as an integral part of the net
consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset. Incentives received to enter into operating leases are recognised
as a liability.
The aggregate benefits of lease incentives received by the Commissioner in respect of operating leases have been
recorded as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term, on a straight line basis.
Lease incentives in the form of leasehold improvements are capitalised as an asset and depreciated over the remaining
term of the lease or estimated useful life of the improvement whichever is shorter.

Employee benefits
These benefits accrue for employees as a result of services provided up to the reporting date that remain unpaid. Long-
term employee benefits are measured at present value and short-term employee benefits are measured at nominal
amounts.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION

Long service leave

Pre-retirement leave

The Commissioner did not voluntarily change any of its accounting policies during 2013-14.

 •

 •

The liability for long service leave is measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect
of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit method.

included additional disclosures where required to assist users in assessing the valuation techniques and
inputs used to ascertain fair value measurements used for asset and liability measurements.

Fair value hierarchy and other information is provided in Notes 12A and 13.
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet
effective, have not been adopted by the Commissioner for the period ending 30 June 2014. The Commissioner has
assessed the impact of the new and amended standards and interpretations and considers there will be no impact on the
accounting policies or the financial statements of the Commissioner.

Unrecognised contractual commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or
payable to the Australian Taxation Office. If GST is not payable to, or recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office,
the commitments and contingencies are disclosed on a gross basis.

Note 3 New and Revised Accounting Standards and Policies

In accordance with the new AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement , which became effective for the first time in 2013-14, the 
Commissioner has:

reviewed the fair value valuation techniques (both internal estimates and independent valuation appraisal) 
for non-financial assets to ensure they are consistent with the standard. The Commissioner will continue to 
measure non-financial assets using either the cost or market approach. The application of AASB 13 has not 
had a material impact on the fair value measurements; and

m) Unrecognised contractual commitments and contingent assets and liabilities
Commitments include operating arrangements arising from contractual or statutory sources and are disclosed at their
nominal value.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, but are disclosed
by way of a note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.

The estimated liability for long service leave is based on actuarial assumptions over expected future salary and wage
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. These assumptions are based on employee data over
SA government entities.
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds
with durations that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
The current portion of long service leave reflects the whole of Government's past experience of long service leave.

The Commissioner is not entitled to long service leave, but is entitled to six months pre-retirement leave or payment in 
lieu in the same manner as a judge of the Supreme Court of South Australia.
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2014
$’000

           8,189 
Total revenues from SA Government 8,189

2014
$’000

Sundry recoveries                   19 
19

Recoveries consist of recoveries from SA Government agencies for accommodation costs.

2014
$’000

           2,892 
              276 
              272 
              174 
                72 

Skills and experience retention leave                   3 
Total employee benefits expenses 3,689
References to employee(s) in these financial statements include the Commissioner, who is a statutory appointment.

There were no employees who received Targeted Voluntary Separation Packages (TVSPs) during the reporting period.
2014

Remuneration of employees - from 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014 No.
The number of employees whose remuneration received or receivable falls within the following bands:
$141 500 to $151 499                   1 
$261 500 to $271 499                   1 
$381 500 to $391 499                   1 
Total number of employees 3

Salaries and wages 
Employee on-costs - superannuation

Employee on-costs - other
Annual leave 

Long service leave  

For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

Total recoveries and other income

Appropriations from Consolidated Account pursuant to the Appropriation Act

Total revenues from Government consists of operational and capital funding. For details on the expenditure associated with the
operational funding received refer to Note 6 to 9. There were no material variations between the amount appropriated and the expenditure
associated with this appropriation.

Note 4 Revenues from SA Government

Note 5 Recoveries and other income

Note 6 Employee Benefits Expenses

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION

$8.189 million represents the proportion of the total appropriation that relates to the period from 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014.

The table includes all employees (including the Commissioner) who received remuneration equal to or greater than the base executive
remuneration level during the year. Remuneration of employees reflects all costs of employment including salaries and wages, payments
in lieu of leave, superannuation contributions, salary sacrifice benefits and fringe benefits and any fringe benefits tax paid or payable in
respect of those benefits. The total actual remuneration received by these employees for the reporting period was $0.791 million.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

2014
$’000

Accommodation               668 
Information and communications technology               405 
Outsourced services               147 
Employment related payments                 65 
Repairs, maintenance and minor purchases                 77 
Office expenses                 75 
Contract staff                 72 
Promotions and publications                 45 
Motor vehicle expenses                 41 
Telephone related expenses                 31 
Legal fees                 26 
Employee training                 26 
Website development                 20 
Shared Services SA charges                 19 
Tax and taxable payments                 19 
Consultancies                 15 
Minor works                   2 
Other                 69 
Total supplies and services 1,822

2014 2014
No. $’000

Below $10,000 2                      15 
Total paid/payable to consultants 2 15

2014
Depreciation $’000
Plant and equipment                 29 
Information technology                 16 
Amortisation 
Leasehold improvements               212 
Total depreciation and amortisation 257

2014
$’000

Audit fees paid/payable to the Auditor-General’s Department relating to the audit of the financial statements                 29 
Total audit fees 29

2014
$’000

           4,316 
Total cash and cash equivalents 4,316

Deposits with the Treasurer and Interest rate risk

Deposits with the Treasurer

Note 9 Auditor’s Remuneration

Note 10 Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Deposits with the Treasurer are non interest bearing. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents represents fair value.

Note 7 Supplies and Services

The number and dollar amount of consultancies paid/payable (included in supplies & services expense) that fell within the following bands:

Note 8 Depreciation and amortisation
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For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

2014
$’000

                45 
                44 

Total receivables 89

b)  Categorisation of financial instruments and risk exposure information - Refer to Note 21 (a)

Note 12A Property, Plant and Equipment
2014

Leasehold improvements $’000
Leasehold improvements at cost (deemed fair value)            2,547 
Accumulated amortisation at the end of the period              (212)
Total leasehold improvements 2,335

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost (deemed fair value)               369 
Accumulated depreciation at the end of the period                (30)
Total plant and equipment 339

Information Technology
Information Technology at cost (deemed fair value)            1,074 
Accumulated depreciation at the end of the period                (16)
Total information technology 1,058

Capital work in progress
Capital work in progress at cost               134 
Total capital work in progress 134
Total property, plant and equipment 3,866

Carrying amount of plant and equipment

Leasehold 
Improvements

Plant and 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Capital 
Work in 

Progress

Total 
Property, 
Plant and 

Equipment
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Carrying amount 1 September 2013 - - - - -
Additions  2,435 358 1,074 134 4,001
Depreciation and amortisation (212) (30) (16) - (258)
Donated assets - 11 - 112 123
Transfers from (to) work in progress 112 - - (112) -
Carrying amount 30 June 2014 2,335 339 1,058 134 3,866

a)  Maturity analysis of receivables - Refer to table in Note 21 (b)

All items of plant and equipment had a ‘fair value at the time of acquisition that was less than $1 million or had an estimated useful life that
was less than three years’, and have not been revalued in accordance with APF III. The carrying value of these items are deemed to
approximate fair value. These assets are classified in level 3 as there has been no subsequent adjustments to their value, except for
management assumptions about the assets condition and remaining useful life.

Impairment
There were no indications of impairment of property, plant and equipment at 30 June 2014.

Note 12B Property, plant and equipment movement schedule

Note 11 Receivables

GST receivable   
Prepayments
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For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Fair value hierarchy

Fair value measurements recognised in the Statement of Financial Position are categorised into the following levels at 30 June 2014.

Level 3 2014
Recurring fair value measurements $’000 $’000
Leasehold improvements (note 12A) 2,335 2,335
Information Technology (note 12A) 1,058 1,058

339 339
Total recurring fair value measurements 3,732 3,732

Valuation techniques and inputs

Reconciliation of fair value measurements - Level 3

Leasehold 
Improvements

Information 
Technology

Plant and 
Equipment Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening balance at the beginning of the period - - - -

Additions  2,435 1,074 357 3,866
Transfers from/to Work in Progress 112 - - 112
Donated assets - - 11 11

Depreciation and amortisation (212) (16) (29) (257)

Closing balance at the end of the period 2,335 1,058 339 3,732

2014
$’000
499

29
59

587

21
Total non-current payables 21

608

Note 13 Fair value measurement

The fair value of non-financial assets must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes. The Commissioner 
categorises non-financial assets measured at fair value into a hierarchy based on the level of inputs used in measurement.

Plant and Equipment (note 12A)

All non-financial assets have been determined to be Level 3.  Valuation techniques used to derive level 3 fair values are at note 2(k).  The 
fair values were determined using the depreciated replacement cost approach.  Key assumptions were assessing the remaining useful life 
and the purpose of the assets.

Employee on-costs  
Total current payables

Creditors  

Total gains (losses) for the period recognised in net 
result:

Non-Current
Employee on-costs  

Total payables

Note 14 Payables

Current

Accruals  
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For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

b) Categorisation of financial instruments and risk exposure information - Refer to Note 21 (a)

2014
$’000
192

Accrued salaries and wages  20
Long service leave 258
Skills and experience retention leave 6
Total current employee benefits 476

229
Total non-current employee benefits 229
Total employee benefits 705

2014
$’000

Lease Incentive 72
Total current other liabilities 72

Lease Incentive 580
Total non-current other liabilities 580
Total other liabilities 652

Non-Current
Long service leave

Non-Current

Note 16 Other liabilities

The actuarial assessment performed by the Department of Treasury and Finance assumed a salary inflation rate at 4%.

Current

Current
Recreation leave  

AASB 119 contains the calculation methodology for long service leave liability. The actuarial assessment performed by the Department of 
Treasury and Finance has provided a set level of liability for the measurement of long service leave. AASB 119 requires the use of the 
yield on long term Commonwealth Government bonds as the discount rate in the measurement of the long service leave liability. The yield 
on long term Commonwealth Government bonds is 3.5% in 2014.

Interest rate and credit risk
Creditors and accruals are raised for all amounts billed but unpaid and are settled within the normal terms of payment of 30 days, unless
otherwise agreed. Employment on-costs are settled when the respective employee benefit that they relate to is discharged. All payables
are non-interest bearing. The carrying amount of payables represents fair value due to the amounts being payable on demand.

a) Maturity analysis of payables - Refer to the table in Note 21 (b)

Note 15 Employee benefits

The Department of Treasury and Finance has performed an actuarial assessment of long service leave as at 30 June 2014. The 
percentage of long service leave taken as leave in the actuarial assessment is  40% and the average factor for the calculation of employer 
superannuation on-cost is 10.3% . These rates are used in the employment on-cost calculation. 

The amounts for long service leave include pre-retirement leave (see note 2(l)) and also include amounts accrued for investigators 
seconded under a Memorandum of Administrative Arrangement between SA Police and the Commissioner. The Commissioner is required 
to reimburse SA Police an amount equivalent to long service leave when seconded investigators cease employment with the 
Commissioner. The amount accrued is therefore equivalent to the long service leave provision amount.
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For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

2014
$’000

           1,113 
           3,949 

Later than five years               895 
           5,957 

2014
$’000

Within one year               503 
Later than one year but not longer than five years            2,209 
Later than five years            2,560 
Total operating leases commitments            5,272 

2014
Other Commitments $’000

              104 
                30 
              134 

                75 
Later than one year but not longer than five years                 59 
Total other commitments               134 

2014
$’000

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period:
Cash and cash equivalents disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position 4,316
Balance as per the Statement of Cash Flows 4,316

Note 17  Unrecognised contractual commitments

Total remuneration commitments

Operating lease commitments

Remuneration commitments
Commitments for the payment of salaries and other remuneration under fixed-term executive contracts in existence at the reporting date
but not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:

Within one year

Motor Vehicles (1)

Other (2)

Total

Within one year

(1) Agreements for the provision of motor vehicles to executive officers or sections (i.e. pool vehicles) are leased from SAFA through their agent
LeasePlan Australia.  There are no purchase options available to the Commissioner.

(2) Other commitments relate to purchase orders placed for goods and services before 30 June 2014.

The accommodation and office equipment leases are non-cancellable leases with rental payable monthly in advance. 

Contingent rental provisions within the accommodation lease agreements provide for the minimum lease payments to be increased on 
specified rent review dates.  Options exist to renew the accommodation leases at the end of the term of the lease.

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities are payable as
follows:

Later than one year but not longer than five years

There are no contingent assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2014.

Note 18  Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Note 19  Cash flow reconciliation
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For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Reconciliation of net cash provided by operating activities to net cost of providing services:
           7,405 

          (8,189)

             (257)
Property, plant and equipment assets in payables               187 
Donated property, plant and equipment assets               123 
Lease incentive amortisation                 72 

                89 
             (608)

(Increase) / decrease in employee benefits              (705)
Net cost of providing services (1,883)

SA Government
Non-SA 

Government Total
2014 2014 2014

Note $’000 $’000 $’000
Income

23                  3,895 -            3,895 
4                  8,189 -            8,189 
5 Recoveries                       19 -                 19 

12,103 - 12,103

Expenses
6 Employee benefits expenses 174 3,515 3,689
7 Accommodation 641 27 668
7 Information and communications technology 97 308 405
7 Other outsourced services 50 97 147
7 Employment related payments 12 53 65
7 Repairs, maintenance and minor purchases - 77 77
7 Office expenses - 75 75
7 Contract staff - 72 72
7 Promotions and publications - 45 45
7 Motor vehicle expenses - 41 41
7 Telephone related expenses 7 24 31
7 Legal fees - 26 26
7 Employee training - 26 26
7 Website development 20 - 20
7 Shared Services SA charges 19 - 19
7 Tax and taxable payments - 19 19
7 Consultancies - 15 15
7 Minor works - 2 2
7 Other 22 47 69

Total income

Revenues from SA Government

(Increase) / decrease in payables

Donated assets

The following table discloses revenues, expenses, financial assets and liabilities where the counterparty/ transaction is with an entity within
the SA Government as at the reporting date, classified according to their nature. All transactions have been included.

Add/(less) non cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense 

Less Revenues from SA Government

Net cash provided by ( used in ) operating activities

Movement in assets and liabilities
Increase / (decrease) in receivables

Note 20  Transactions with SA Government
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For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

9 Auditor’s remuneration 29 - 29
8 Depreciation and amortisation expense - 257 257

1,071 4,726 5,797

10 4,316 - 4,316
Receivables

11 - 45 45
11 - 44 44

4,316 89 4,405

Payables
14 Creditors 161 338 499
14 Accruals 29 - 29

190 338 528

Carrying 
Amount

2014

Fair Value 
2014

$'000 $'000

4,316 4,316

- -

499 499

Total expenses

Cash and cash equivalents

Category of financial assets and 
financial liabilities

Statement of Financial Position 
line item  Note 

Receivables (1) (2) 

Financial liabilities - at cost Payables  (1) 14

Total financial assets
Prepayments

11

(a) Categorisation of financial instruments

(1) Receivable and payable amounts disclosed here exclude amounts relating to statutory receivables and payables (e.g. Commonwealth, State and
Local Government taxes, fees and charges; audit fees payable to the Auditor-General’s Department etc). In government, certain rights to receive or pay
cash may not be contractual and therefore in these situations, the requirements will not apply. Where rights or obligations have their source in legislation
such as levy receivables/payables, tax equivalents, commonwealth tax etc they would be excluded from the disclosure. The standard defines contract as
enforceable by law. All amounts recorded are carried at cost (not materially different from amortised cost).

(2) Receivables amount disclosed here excludes prepayments. Prepayments are presented in Note 11 as trade and other receivables in accordance with
paragraph 78(b) of AASB 101. However, prepayments are not financial assets as defined in AASB 132 as the future economic benefit of these assets is
the receipt of goods and services rather than the right to receive cash or another financial asset.

GST receivable

Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement, and the 
basis on which income and expenses are recognised with respect to each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument 
are disclosed in Note 2 "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies".

Note 21  Financial Instruments/Financial Risk Management

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

Financial liabilities

Cash and cash equivalents 10

Total financial liabilities
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For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

(b) Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities

 Carrying 
amount ($'000) 

 < 1 year
($'000) 

 1-5 years
($'000) 

 > 5 years
($'000) 

2014
Financial assets
Cash & cash equivalents                 4,316                  4,316                         -                    - 
Receivables (1)                       -                        -                         -                    - 
Total Financial assets                 4,316                  4,316                       -                  -
Financial liabilities
Payables (1)                    499                     499                         -                    - 

                   499                     499                       -                  -

A sensitivity analysis has not been undertaken for the interest rate risk of the Commissioner as it has been determined that the possible
impact on profit and loss or total equity from fluctuations in interest rates is immaterial.

Total Financial liabilities

Liquidity Risk
The Commissioner is funded principally from appropriations by the SA Government. The Commissioner works with the Department of
Treasury and Finance to determine the cash flows associated with its Government approved program of work and to ensure funding is
provided through SA Government budgetary processes to meet the expected cashflows.

The continued existence of the Commissioner in the present form, and with the present programs, is dependent on State Government
policy and on continuing appropriations by Parliament for the Commissioner’s administration and programs. The Commissioner aims to
settle undisputed accounts within 30 days from the date the invoice is first received.

The Commissioner's exposure to liquidity risk is insignificant based on past experience and current assessment of risk.

Market Risk

The carrying value less impairment provisions of receivables and payables is a reasonable approximation of their fair values due to the
short term nature of these. Refer to Notes 2, 11 and 14.

Contractual Maturities

Fair Value
The Commissioner does not recognise any financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value, but does disclose fair value in the notes.
All of the resulting fair value estimates are included in level 3 as all significant inputs required are observable.

There are no known events after balance date that affect these financial statements.

Note 22  Events After the Reporting Period

(1) Receivable and payable amounts disclosed here exclude amounts relating to statutory receivables and payables.

The Commissioner currently holds no interest bearing financial instruments and is not exposed to interest rate risk.

Credit Risk
The Commissioner has no significant concentration of credit risk. The Commissioner has policies and procedures in place to ensure that
transactions occur with customers with appropriate credit history.
Allowances for impairment of financial assets are calculated on past experience and current and expected changes in client credit rating.
Currently the Commissioner does not hold any collateral as security for any of its financial assets. There is no evidence to indicate that
financial assets are impaired.

The following table discloses the maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities.

Sensitivity disclosure analysis
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For the period 1 September 2013 to 30 June 2014

INDEPENDENT COMMISSIONER AGAINST CORRUPTION
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Note 23  Donated assets

Donated assets are recorded as revenue in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  The donated assets comprised cash ($3.772 
million) and property, plant and equipment ($0.123 million) transferred from the Attorney General's Department administered items upon 
establishment of the agency on 1 September 2013.
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